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Financial Highlights
i

(in HK$'000F & 7T)

Revenue

WA

1,570,229

562,880

224,399

2007 2008 2009 2010

Net profit attributable to
owners of the parent

B RRIHA ARG

1,329,593

754,048

556,075

174,375

2007 2008 2009 2010

Net assets value

BERE

9,026,685

4,495,958
3,642,552

2,522,429

2007 2008 2009 2010

Net cash inflow /(outflow)
from operating activities

REEBHRSRAORH)FRE

894,190

308,989

2007 2008 2009 2010
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For the year ended 31 March

BE3AMBLEE
2010 2009 Approximate
HK$ HK$ Change %
#ET BT 149 18 %
Revenue 1,570.2 million 224.4 million f 600%
LN BHE ER-
Gross profit 982.7 million 70.8 million f 1,289%
EN B8 BE
Gross profit ratio 63% 32% 4+ 9%
E R =
Profit for the year 1,327.6 million 753.6 million f 76%
AN E A E BE ER-
Net profit/(loss) excluding fair value gains on 408.7 million (106.5) million f 484%
investment properties and related tax effect BE BE
A REVMELAFERAERERHR BT ED
FRECFEBE)
Operating cash inflow 894.2 million 71.8 million f 1,145%
KEHERA BHE ER-
Net asset value 9,026.7 million 4,496.0 million f 101%
BEFE B8 B8
Gearing ratio 6% 51% ¥ 8%
BEABLHX
Final dividend per share HK2 cents - -
NEAR B (T AR) 4
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Corporate Profile
NRSIN St

China South City Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively as the “Group” or
“China South City”) are one of the leading developers and operators of large-scale integrated logistics
and trade centers in China, providing a comprehensive trading platform for domestic and international
wholesale suppliers, buyers, manufacturers and distributors for raw materials and finished products. With
its unique business model, the Group not only sells and leases well-designed and high quality trade
center units for businesses to display and sell their products, but also provides trade center occupants
and their customers with a full range of integrated logistics and trade services such as warehousing and
on-site logistics services, and supporting services and facilities such as banking, on-site government
services, conference and exhibition, hotels, restaurants and office facilities in a bid to offer one-stop
convenient supply chain solutions. The Company has listed its shares on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 30 September 2009 (the “IPO Date"”), stock
code: 1668.

The Group currently operates one integrated logistics and trade center in Shenzhen, namely China South
City Shenzhen (“CSC Shenzhen”), which is strategically located at the heart of the Pearl River Delta.
Phases One and Two of CSC Shenzhen cover a planned total gross floor area (“GFA”) of approximately
470,000 square meters (“sq.m.”) and 2,130,000 sg.m. respectively. Phase One of CSC Shenzhen trade
center houses five major light industries in China, including Leather and Accessories, Textile and Clothing,
Electronics and Accessories, Metals, Chemicals and Plastics and Printing, Paper and Packaging. With the
completion of two huge trade centers (total GFA of approximately 727,000 sg.m.) in Phase Two, CSC
Shenzhen extends its product span to include finished products and commodities of the related
industries. As of 31 March 2010, approximately 1,376,000 sq.m. of trade center units and ancillary
facilities in Phases One and Two were in operation.

China South City is a vibrant and fast-growing business. Its strategy is to establish strategically located
large-scale integrated logistics and trade centers in regional economic centers to satisfy the needs of
businesses and industries in the respective regions. Its proven business model and contributions to the
regional economy have gained the support of many local governments, which has enabled the Group to
replicate its successful business model across the country. Currently, besides CSC Shenzhen, the Group is
developing or planning to develop four other projects in the cities of Nanning in Guangxi province,
Nanchang in Jiangxi province, Xian in Shaanxi province, and Heyuan in Guangdong province. All the
projects are making good progress.

0 China South City Holdings Limited Annual Report 2009/10
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Milestones

12 18

LLm

Aug 2006 * 20068H
Commenced construction of Phase Il
development — West Garden, the
Dec 2004 » 20045128 residential units

Completed construction of Phase I's 5 —HIEBIEEH T — ®
trc—zade cgnters with GFA of approx. 360,000 5 S B
m* leasing and sales commenced
—HSEXSHORT BREER
T&493£360,000F 7KL FHKEE

Feb 2007 « 2007524
Signed the Nanchang project master
agreement

B BEHBERWZ

July 2007 « 200778
Issued US$125 million
Convertible Bond

Dec 2005 ¢ 20055124
Signed the Heyuan project master BITI5F B 2 T AR R 45 &

agreement
FADARIE B AE 210 &

May 2002 « 2002£E5H
Founded China South City Holdings
Limited
EERERERATKT

Jul 2003 « 2003478

Acquired land from Shenzhen
government

BRNTHRAEEL

Oct 2003 * 20034108

Commenced construction of Phase |
—HIBRARYHTIESR
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Dec 2007 ¢ 20074128

Commenced construction of Phase Il
Trade Plaza One and Trade Plaza Two

“H-RRBESR-RRS
BERGE TER

Dec 2007 * 20075128

Signed the Nanning project master
agreement

B MERBERGH




Feb 2008 * 200852 A

Completed construction of 1,628
residential units of West Garden

1H 2009 * 20094F k3 5

Completed construction of approx.
GFA 340,000 m* Phase Il Trade Plaza
Two

48 32 SR TE 18 #49340,000F 77 K 59
THIRRHESEN

2H 2009 * 20094F T ¥ &

Completed construction of approx.
GFA 385,000 m’ Phase Il Trade Plaza
One

#832 S E 18 49385,000F 7 K £
“H-RRIEBEK

Jun 2009 ¢ 200956 8

Acquired first batch of land of approx.
487,000 m’ for Heyuan project
BEAREEERHAROR
487,000 J7 K &) i 4t

FHABL628EFEEEMRT

Jun 2009 ¢ 200946 8

Entered into a MOU to develop trade
center project in Xi‘an

BRI BRAZX ST LEBENR

Sep 2009 » 2009494
Listed in the HKEx Stock code: 1668

REBBRFTET - By 5% 1668

Oct 2009 20094108
Launched the 1st China Shenzhen Int'l
Industrial Fair at CSC Shenzhen
F—EPECRIBEBEIE
BEeNRIIEERERT

Oct 2009 * 2009£E10A
Acquired first batch of land of approx.
890,000 m’ for Nanning Project
NEHEBEEHERNA
890,000 75 7K #9 i 3

Nov 2009 ¢ 20094118

Entered into project agreement for
Xi'an Project

AINEREATERHE

Dec 2009 ¢ 2009412 H

Acquired first batch of land of approx.
1.05 million m’ for Nanchang Project

BNEeMEBEEERYA
1.058 8 F KA

EEBERERADIT 2009/10F 3 0



Chairman’s Statement
H:f_#&d:

Cheng Chung Hing 2} #2
Co-Chairman & Executive Director

WL ERANTEF

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of China South
City Holdings Limited, | am pleased to present the first annual
report of the Group since its successful listing on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange on 30 September 2009.

The successful listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock
Exchange is a milestone to the Group as it demonstrates
recognition of the Group's achievement as well as support of the
Group's unique business model and prospects for future growth
by the international capital market and investors. The listing of the
Company also has broadened our shareholder base and enhanced
our ability to access a wider source of financing for the Group’s
rapid growth.

é China South City Holdings Limited Annual Report 2009/10

| am pleased to report the
first annual results of China
South City Holdings Limited
after its successful listing on
the Main Board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange on 30
September 20009.
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Results and Dividends

The Group recorded an outstanding result in its financial
performance for the financial year ended 31 March 2010. The
revenue rose significantly by 599.7% to HK$1,570.2 million (2009:
HK$224.4 million) while the profit for the year increased by 76.2%
to HK$1,327.6 million (2009: HK$753.6 million) as compared to
last fiscal year. Basic earnings per share were HK25.32 cents (2009:
HK16.76 cents).

The Board proposed a final dividend of HK2 cents per share for
the year ended 31 March 2010, subject to shareholders’ approval
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Market and Operation Review

The economy of China was still negatively impacted by the global
financial crisis in the beginning of the year. In response to this
overwhelming negative sentiment, the Chinese government
launched the RMB4 trillion stimulus package, together with a more
loose monetary policy and the Chinese economy began to pick up
in the second half of 2009. The momentum of recovery of the
economy can be recognized by the increase in visitors and vehicle
traffic to CSC Shenzhen in the second half of 2009. Upon
completion of CSC Shenzhen Phase Two Trade Plaza Two and
Trade Plaza One (formerly named as Phase Two Textile and
Clothing Trade Center, and Phase Two Leather and Accessories
Trade Center) in March 2009 and October 2009 respectively, we
have launched the trade center units for lease and for sale last
year. For leasing, we have leased about 25% of the total rentable
areas launched in June 2010. In addition, the total occupancy rate
of Phase One trade center is about a respectable 82%. During the
year under review, the Group has entered into sales contracts and
letters of intent for GFA of approximately 110,000 sq.m. of Phase
Two trade centers units while approximately 98,000 sg.m. are
contracted for and booked in the income statement for the year
under review, which amounted to HK$1,408.1 million, representing
a growth of 1,978.1% over last year. This better-than-expected
operating performance is a powerful testament to the success of
the Group’s business model and a huge boost to us to push
ahead with the new projects that are underway.

EERKRE

N £ [E & £ 2010638318 1F B B F E /9 BF
HEEDMBE AKE - LA KR M
599.7% Z£1,570.2H & /& 7L (20094 : 224.48
BET) MAFEMNBHLE—EAMKFE
#IN76.2% F£1,327.68 & 7 7T (20094F : 753.6
BEBT) - BIREAEF A25.327811 (2009
F:16.767810) °

EEeZHRMNEE2010F3831HIEFE
RAREIE EEIR2EBI - HASFBRERAR
RIEERERBERSHEER  HAEE -

mEREELDRE
FEEERFEVNAZINZRESRMERD
AETE - -RERBREEENEB@MIBLE
AROE B A R B R TS R
REREREBHE - B E & KB 2009
FTH¥FE;F - LCBERDERRIER
WR2009F THFHNARERERELE
BEAATR - BEXRIEEYE %
RGESR—HRR5ES (BT 5 41 6 R
EZXGHRLEZBEERAERGH L) D
2009438 K2009410A & ik % - T MR
EFHHZERSGPOHNHERERLE -
EHEEFE - RFIR2010F68 4 & i
DA A EREENSY% - I —HXS
FOEBRGRELA82% c REIEFENR
AEED 8RS P04 4 3Z110,000
FHRAMNEEMBET LHEACRRHEESR
ME ' 998,000 F KEFEETHEEER - W
REBEFEAERZRAER HELEA
1,408 1B BB T - MAFIEIMNI,9781% ° Uit
BREHNCEEERCTBLASENGEE
N2 WARAKIEAEREFIHEEFNTEED
fZ e
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Chairman’s Statement

TE®RSE

Last year, the Group made a remarkable progress in new projects
development to replicate the unique and proven business model to
develop and operate large-scale integrated logistics and trade
centers of China South City across China. In June 2009, we
obtained a parcel of land of approximately 487,000 sq.m. in
Heyuan. In October and December 2009, the Group successfully
acquired the first batches of land, measuring approximately
890,000 sg.m. and 1.05 million sg.m. in Nanning and Nanchang
respectively. Construction of projects in Heyuan, Nanning and
Nanchang have already been commenced. In addition, we entered
into an agreement to form a joint venture in November 2009 to
bring in an operating partner, Xin Hao Da (Hong Kong) Holding
Co. Ltd (“Xin Hao Da"), to jointly develop a substantial project in
Xi‘an.

All these projects are strategically located in the second-and-third-
tier cities where urbanization of those cities has huge effect to
drive economic growth and to capture the growth opportunities in
these regions. Our Nanning project aims to serve the Northern Bay
region which includes most of the ASEAN countries; the Nanchang
project is strategically located to serve the Yangtze River Delta and
Pan Pearl River Delta regions as more and more manufacturers in
coastal areas are moving inland to Central China; whilst the Xi‘an
is the focus of a government-led development plan for Western
China. We expect these projects will develop into major growth
drivers for the Group in the coming years.

6 China South City Holdings Limited Annual Report 2009/10
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Prospects

Looking ahead, we expect the rapid development and expansion
of our business to continue in the coming few years. We remain
as optimistic as ever about the leasing and sales of the trade
centers as well as the supporting facilities of CSC Shenzhen and
those of the new projects. The Group will actively deploy its
resources to build a bigger business platform and a diversified
property portfolio to drive a sustainable growth. We aim to move
forward and grow on a more nationwide scale.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to all shareholders, customers and business partners for
their trust and unwavering support and to the management and
staff for their professionalism and dedication.

CHENG CHUNG HING
Co-Chairman & Executive Director

Hong Kong, 13 July 2010
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Management Discussion and Analysis

W N DA

BEEER

Business Review

The business operating environment in the beginning of last year
remained challenging in the wake of the global financial crisis. As
a result of the Chinese government's RMB4 trillion stimulus
package as well as a more loose monetary policy, the overall
market in China started to resume its growth trend in the second
half of the year. In response to the improving market sentiments,
we launched our Phase Two trade center units in CSC Shenzhen
for sale and for lease which bring along significant growth in sales
of properties for the Group for the year under review.

Last fiscal year was a fruitful year in the development of China
South City where we have recorded significant growth in
operations and have made remarkable breakthrough in our new
projects to replicate the proven business model of CSC Shenzhen
to develop and operate large-scale integrated logistics and trade
centers across China.

A splendid view of China South City Shenzhen ZEYIIZERIHALESE

é China South City Holdings Limited Annual Report 2009/10
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China South City Shenzhen

Located at Pinghu Shenzhen, China, as the first large-scale
integrated logistics and trade center launched by the Group, CSC
Shenzhen has a total construction site area of approximately 1.06
million sgq.m., with a total planned GFA of approximately 2.6
million sq.m. The project has been being constructed in phases. In
the fiscal year under review, construction of GFA of approximately
387,000 sqg.m. of Trade Plaza One of the Phase Two was
completed. As at 31 March 2010, approximately 1,376,000 sg.m.
of trade center units and ancillary facilities in Phase One and Phase
Two were in operation.

As at 31 March 2010, the total occupancy rate of the Phase One
trade center was about 82%, while Phase Two Trade Plaza One
and Trade Plaza Two have leased about 25% of the total rentable
areas launched in June 2010. The average effective monthly rental
rates for Phase One and Phase Two trade centers were
approximately HK$28 and HK$34 per square meter respectively.

YN A

AYNFEERARPERI R SAEE
HEHNEEAARLNGABEDRT L A
EEFIEMEEL [1.068 EF 7K - MR
REEZEmMBENR26BB T AR -HAT
DHEZ - REEMRERERN ZEAE

#)3%387,000F TAW M-SR RFHESH T
RERT - #ZE201093H318 » 491,376,000
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEN®RRIDMN

Phase | Leather and Accessories Trade Center
—HRERARZR S

—HERIERBEER ST

For the year under review, we captured the economic recovery
trend and launched for sale of the trade center units of Phase
Two Trade Plaza One and Trade Plaza Two which was the key
contributor to the Group’s revenue. During the year, CSC Shenzhen
has entered into sales contracts and letters of intent for about
110,000 sq.m. of Phase Two's trade center units while
approximately 98,000 sq.m. with an average selling price of
approximately HK$15,000 per sg.m. are contracted for and booked
in the consolidated income statement for the year under review.
These generated sales of HK$1,408.1 million for the Group,
representing a growth of approximately 20 times over last year.

Phase One of CSC Shenzhen currently houses suppliers of five
major light industries, namely Textile and Clothing, Leather and
Accessories, Electronics and Accessories, Printing, Paper and
Packaging, and Metals, Chemicals and Plastics. With the
completion of Phase Two Trade Plaza One and Trade Plaza Two, to
strengthen CSC Shenzhen’s position as a large-scale integrated
logistics and trade center, CSC Shenzhen extends its product span
from industrial raw materials to finished products and commodities.
Currently, the product categories of related industries which have
been introduced include apparel, bedding, curtain, handbags,
accessories and footwear. Furthermore, small goods and electronic
gadgets such as clocks and watches have also been added to
Phase Two trade centers to broaden their trading product scopes.

@ China South City Holdings Limited Annual Report 2009/10

Phase | Metals, Chemicals and Plastics Trade Center

—HRStTEMZ ST L

Phase | Printing, Paper and Packaging Trade Center

Phase | Electronics and Accessories Trade Center

—HEFRMBZZHL

Phase | Textile and Clothing Trade Center
—HHEREZSH L
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Phase Il Trade Plaza One

—H-RRES

Phase Il Trade Plaza Two
ZH=RR 5 ES

For the coming two years, CSC Shenzhen plans to develop the REME FIEEMAEBEEATNYE:
following properties:
Properties Approximate GFA
M BHEEES
(sg.m.)
(EHK)
Trade centers TG 340,000
Commercial and other supporting facilities 7 % & E b Bt & & e 160,000
Total #Et 500,000
Industrial Fair T4REE

The Group co-organized the first and the second China (Shenzhen)
International Industrial Fair (“CIIF”) held in October 2009 and April
2010 respectively, with China Council for Promotion of
International Trade, China Chamber of International Commerce and
Shenzhen Municipal People’s Government. These two events were
held for four consecutive days at CSC Shenzhen, attracting 82,000
and 103,000 visit counts respectively. Approximately 1,090 and
1,200 enterprises and organizations from local and overseas
participated in the first and the second CIIF respectively. The
exhibition areas of the second CIIF increased by 20% to 72,000
sg.m. compared to 60,000 sq.m. in the first CIIF. Bigger and
better, the second CIIF showcased hundreds of thousands types of
products and raw materials from exhibitors.
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Held in spring and autumn each year, the CIIF is expected to help
enhance the reputation of the Group and boost both traffic and
business at the trade centers. We are committed to launch
innovative promotions regularly to help suppliers, manufacturers
and distributors to grow their business by providing the venue and
top notch facilities necessary for them.

BRIBENEFEUMERT  BHE
PREAEBENEE HTHEZAR R
ERXGPOLOHEBIER - RAIBDE B #
HEIFWHEEEZS  REER  RIEFHN
DB RS MM P PT R A TR SRR A
BB IR EREE

Industrial Fa|r —The hustle and bustle of the 1st and 2nd China Shanzhen International Industrial Fair (CIIF)
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China South City Nanning

Located in Nanning, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, China,
according to the project plan, China South City Nanning (“CSC
Nanning”) is expected to occupy a construction site area of
approximately 1,830,000 sq.m.. According to the construction plan,
CSC Nanning will have a total GFA of approximately 4,880,000
sg.m. upon completion which includes trade centers, integrated
logistics and warehousing facilities, commercial facilities, residential
facilities and car parks. Construction of the project will be carried
out in phases.

In October 2009, CSC Nanning has acquired a plot of land in
Nanning, with a construction site area and planned GFA of
approximately 890,000 sgq.m. and 2,397,000 sqg.m., respectively.
This plot of land obtained is located on a site surrounded by JT
@AFRE - LA - TERERIAKNE, with aggregate
consideration of approximately RMB351.3 million. Phase One's
construction has commenced in October 2009.

For the project as a whole, the Group intends to sell all residential
properties while selling not more than 50% of the GFA of the
trade centers to bring in cash flow to finance the project’s
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development as well as contribute to the Group's operating profit.
The remaining GFA of the trade centers will be held for long term
investment. For the coming two years, CSC Nanning plans to
develop the following properties:

BEABELES - BTORBHROM R
SEEBHERDRE - REME - HE
EHAHHRRATYE

Properties Approximate GFA
% BHOEEEE
(sq.m.)

(FEHXK)

Trade centers RS 470,000
Residential facilities FEERERXRE 340,000
Commercial and other supporting facilities 7 % & H b it & 2% 76 520,000
Total BE 1,330,000

Served by the extensive transportation network in the Nanning
City, CSC Nanning geographically is in close proximity of Southeast
Asia. It will be developed into a modern large-scale integrated
logistics and trade centers with Northern Bay Region and
Southeast Asia as its key markets. With the establishment of
China-ASEAN Free Trade Area (ACFTA) which came into effect in
January 2010, tariffs for approximately 93% of all products have
been waived to boost cross border trade. We expect this will be
beneficial to the development of CSC Nanning.

HEEEHRUEREMORBES M
WENMOREOME FEREKEB
EEEmERRE R AMSHRER (KR
RABEMRTL  HBERH-REAHE
SEM00F1AEREW IEERTH
HBRHMEREERE  BUEBHERE
e BRMBEHLEEBEENRNEEERRD
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The Ground Breaking Ceremony of CSC Nanning

The Ground Breaking Ceremony of CSC Nanchang

BTSN MEERNATEA
China South City Nanchang HEERR

Located in Nanchang, Jiangxi Province, China, according to the
project plan, China South City Nanchang (“CSC Nanchang”) is
expected to have a construction site area of approximately
1,550,000 sg.m. According to the construction plan, CSC

HEEEMMETBRIREAEE™  RIEE
BE#HE BHBEEEEZFHHERELA
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Nanchang will have a total GFA of approximately 4,280,000 sq.m.
upon completion, including trade centers, integrated logistics and
warehousing facilities, commercial facilities, residential facilities and
car parks. Construction work will be carried out in phases.

CSC Nanchang has acquired a plot of land in Nanchang in
December 2009, which is located at 4T A ¥1l& N3 M H [E with
a construction site area and planned GFA of approximately
1,050,000 sg.m. and 2,482,000 sg.m., respectively. The aggregate
consideration for the land is RMB555.4 million. Phase One
construction has started in January 2010.

For the project as a whole, the Group intends to sell all residential
properties while selling not more than 50% of the GFA of the
trade centers to bring in cash flow to finance the project’s
development as well as contribute to the Group’s operating profit.
The remaining GFA of the trade centers will be held for long term
investment. For the coming two years, CSC Nanchang plans to
develop the following properties:

THK  RRNBEERFEDL  BANRK
RARRESE BERERE EER
ERMRETSS - RRTREHWET -

2009F1N2H HEEEWMBES —RBLNE
ETMMITH  Z I R E LB
MAE Z2EFHOEERBESEZEERE
7 Bl 49 &1,050,000F 75 oK }2,482,000F 75
Ko ZLHMBREAARKSSS4AGETT ©
—HTIEEN2010F1ARER -

PRIBEEERME ARBEFELEMEES
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RENBELER - # TSR LNE
EEEHFIERBRE - KEMF - @5
ERHUAEBERATYE:

Properties Approximate GFA
LS BHBEEEHE
(sg.m.)

(EFHK)

Trade centers G 430,000
Residential facilities FERERE 300,000
Commercial and other supporting facilities P N EMAEEEX i 190,000
Total it 920,000

Served by the extensive transportation network in the Nanchang
City, CSC Nanchang is strategically located to serve the Yangtze
River Delta and Pan Pearl River Delta regions where benefits will
be brought about as more and more manufacturers in coastal
areas are moving inland to Central China.

China South City Heyuan

Located in Heyuan, Guangdong Province, China, Phase One
development of China South City Heyuan (“CSC Heyuan”) is
expected to include supporting commercial facilities and residential
facilities. In June 2009, a plot of land with construction site area
of approximately 487,000 sq.m. was acquired. The aggregate
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consideration paid for the land is approximately RMB73 million.
Construction has been commenced and is expected to complete
approximately 260,000 sg.m. in the coming two years.

China South City Xi‘an

In June 2009, China South International Industrial Materials City
(Shenzhen) Company Limited (“China South International”), a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into a
memorandum of understanding with Xi‘an International Trade and
Logistics Park Management Committee for the development of a
large-scale integrated logistics and trade center project in the Xi‘an
International Trade and Logistics Park. In November 2009, the
Xi'an International Trade and Logistics Park Management
Committee, China South International, Xin Hao Da and Xi‘an
Government entered into a project agreement for the Xi'an
project. Pursuant to the project agreement, China South
International and Xin Hao Da will form a joint venture company,
which is owned as to 65% and 35% by them, respectively.

According to the signed project agreement, China South City Xi‘an
("CSC Xi'an") will cover a planned total site area of approximately
10 million sg.m.. The Group plans to undertake the construction in
phases. The construction of an integrated logistics and trade
center will take up five million sq.m. of the land while the other
five million sgq.m. of the land will be used for the construction of
complexes for residential and commercial uses as well as ancillary
facilities.

The development of the Xi‘an project provides an excellent
opportunity for the Group to extend its geographical reach to
strategic locations in the northwest of the China. The efforts of
the central government to strategically develop the northwest of
China in the past 10 years lay a good foundation for the regions
to take-off in its rapid economic growth, which forms a beneficial
environment for the development of CSC Xi‘an.
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Outlook

In the coming two years, China South City will continue to deploy
its resources to deliver its expansion plans across the country. The
Group plans to develop approximately 3 million sg.m. of properties
in Shenzhen, Nanning, Nanchang and Heyuan in the coming two
years, and estimates to sell approximately 1.2 million sq.m. of the
properties (including 100,000 sg.m. of completed Phase Two trade
center of CSC Shenzhen) and to hold the remaining GFA of
approximately 1.9 million sq.m. of the properties for long term
investment and for future sale. As a summary, the table below
shows the Group’s construction plan in the coming two years:

RE

REMFE  EHPBEELRER RNE
BRI ERELRRFTS - AEBE
REAEMEFERY  mE - BERTRSE
HMEBRAZEBEAIANYE  TEELE
#9128 BFH KW ZE(BHE100,000F 5K E
ERHFRIERR BRSSP0 HTH
OB ETFTHRKMERFERBAKRERA
BHE - TRHINAEBNRKREMFRN T

BREBE:

Approximate GFA (sq.m.)

BMAOBE@BE(FEFHK)

CSC Shenzhen CSC Nanning CSC Nanchang CSC Heyuan Total

RYIEmY BEEZERN HEERW TEERRH st

Trade centers Gy 340,000 470,000 430,000 — 1,240,000

Residential Facilities 1 E i & % it — 340,000 300,000 260,000 900,000
Commercial and N EM
other supporting FEER

facilities 160,000 520,000 190,000 — 870,000

Total st 500,000 1,330,000 920,000 260,000 3,010,000

Looking forward, with the continuous efforts of marketing and BRZERK BEA T B HNETHEHERER
further development of the CSC Shenzhen, together with the #—2FZERIIZFEmREGL - M0 LR - BE -

contributions of various new projects in Heyuan, Nanning,
Nanchang and Xi‘an, we are confident to strive for a nationwide,
diversified and sustainable growth in the future.
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Financial Review

The Group reported a strong growth in its financial performance
for the year ended 31 March 2010, with revenue growth of
599.7% to HK$1,570.2 million from last year (2009: HK$224.4
million), and profit for the year growth for the year of 76.2% to
HK$1,327.6 million (2009: HK$753.6 million). Excluding the effect
of gains or losses on fair value of our investment properties and
related tax effect, profit for the year as adjusted increased by
483.8% to HK$408.7 million (2009: loss of HK$106.5 million).
Basic earnings per share increased sharply to HK25.32 cents (2009:
HK16.76 cents). Net cash inflow from operation during the year
increased substantially by 1,144.6% to HK$894.2 million (2009:
HK$71.8 million).

Revenue

Revenue increased by 599.7% to HK$1,570.2 million (2009:
HK$224.4 million). The increase was mainly due to a significant
increase in sales of trade center units at CSC Shenzhen Phase Two
Trade Plaza One and Trade Plaza Two during the year.
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NEEPE 22010638310 IEFER 5
REGZSRYHEE WAREFHEM
599.7% Z£1,570.2H & /& 7L (20094 : 224.48
BB AFEEFEIEINT6.2% £1,327.68
& % 0 (20094F 1 753.6 1 & 6 7T) i & %
BYMEATFERZISEBREBRHETE
FAEBOARFEEFE EF483.8% £408.75
&5 70 (20094F : E51E106.56 &5 0) - I
K E R K g F £25.3275 1L (20094 :
16.76785 1) - REELER R A FE AR
FFH1,144.6% E894.2H & /& 7L (20094 : 71.8
BEET) -

[N

W A A1599.7%%1,570.2 A &8 7T (20094 :
AAEBEBTT) - WEETZEHRFALHER
NEBH _H—RRXZEER_HHE
BRSO EHE KRG -

2010 2009 Change
HK$'000 HK$'000 L]
THET FAET %
Sale of properties WMEHE 1,408,108 67,758 1,978.1
Rental income el A 101,277 100,167 1.1
Finance lease income MEMHESKRA 11,245 9,913 13.4
Hotel income B EdA 22,930 25,505 (10.1)
Property management service income )% & 1% IR 7§
WA 24,523 20,426 20.1
Other fee income HAh B A A 2,146 630 240.6
Note: After deduction of business tax e MREERE
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Revenue from Sales of Properties

Revenue from sales of properties increased by 1,978.1% to
HK$1,408.1 million (2009: HK$67.8 million). The increase was
mainly due to our change in operation strategy to increase the
saleable area at CSC Shenzhen Phase Two Trade Plaza One and
Trade Plaza Two in order to increase the cash earning of the
Group.

During the vyear, the Group sold the saleable areas of
approximately 98,000 sqg.m., significantly higher than the 4,850
sg.m. sold in the previous year. Average selling price per sg.m.
was approximately HK$15,000 (2009: approximately HK$14,700).

Rental Income

Rental income was slightly increased by 1.1% to HK$101.3 million
(2009: HK$100.2 million). The increase was primarily due to
recognition of rental income from CSC Shenzhen Phase Two Trade
Plaza One and Trade Plaza Two after their completion.

Occupancy at CSC Shenzhen has recovered from its low levels
during the financial crisis driven by the demand for large-scale
integrated logistics and trade center facilities and the growing
profile of China South City.

As at 31 March 2010, the total occupancy rate of Phase One
trade center was 82%, while the leasing for Phase Two Trade
Plaza One and Trade Plaza Two was about 25% of the launched
area in June 2010. The average effective monthly rental rates for
Phase One and Phase Two trade centers were approximately
HK$28 and HK$34 per sq.m. respectively.

Property Management Services Income

Income from property management rose 20.1% to HK$24.5 million
(2009: HK$20.4 million). The increase was mainly due to the
commencement of operation of CSC Shenzhen Phase Two Trade
Plaza One and Trade Plaza Two during the year, which represented
a new income stream. With the gradual completion of other
buildings at CSC Shenzhen Phase Two, the management believes
more units available for lease will have positive impact on revenue
contribution in the future.

@ China South City Holdings Limited Annual Report 2009/10
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Cost of Sales

Cost of sales of the Group mainly includes construction cost of
properties sold and rental expenses. Cost of sales increased by
282.4% to HK$587.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2010
(2009: HK$153.6 million). The increase was mainly due to a sharp
increase in the number of properties sold during the year, thus
resulting in higher costs.

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased by 1,288.8% to HK$982.7 million (2009:
HK$70.8 million). Gross profit margin for the year was much
higher, at 62.6% (2009: 31.5%). The increase in gross profit
margin was attributable to an increase in the share of revenue
from sale of CSC Shenzhen Phase Two trade center units in total
revenue for the year, while revenue from sales of trade center
units enjoyed a relatively higher gross margin of 70% when
compared to the Group's other revenues.

Other Income

For the year ended 31 March 2010, other income increased by
688.6% to HK$150.4 million (2009: HK$19.1 million) primarily as a
result of the restructuring and buy back of interest-bearing notes
by the Group with the interest-bearing note holders during the
year which contributed approximately HK$136.7 million to the
Group as other income.

Fair Value Gains on Investment Properties

During the year, the fair value gains on investment properties
increased by 13.4% to HK$1,308.5 million (2009: HK$1,153.9
million). The increase was mainly due to the recognition of the fair
value of CSC Shenzhen Phase Two Trade Plaza One, after
deduction of construction cost, following the completion of its
construction during the year.

Selling and Distribution Costs

Selling and distribution costs decreased by 6.7% to HK$83.6
million (2009: HK$89.5 million). The decrease was mainly due to
relatively higher advertising expenses incurred from the intense
media campaigns last year to promote CSC Shenzhen Phase Two
Trade Plaza One and Trade Plaza Two at their initial launch at that
time. As those campaigns have achieved good results, promotion
expenses for the year were reduced accordingly.
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Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses increased by 71.8% to HK$187.7 million
(2009: HK$109.2 million). The increase was mainly attributable to
the IPO expenses and performance bonuses for management
which were recognized during the year, as well as an increase in
administrative expenses upon the commencement of operation at
CSC Shenzhen Phase Two Trade Plaza One and Trade Plaza Two,
and of the project companies in Nanchang, Nanning, Heyuan and
Xi'an.

Finance Costs

Finance costs were up by 383.3% to HK$33.0 million (2009:
HK$6.8 million). The increase was mainly attributable to an
increase in new bank loans for working capital purposes.

Tax

Tax expenses increased by 188.6% to HK$785.3 million (2009:
HK$272.2 million). The difference in tax expenses was mainly the
result of increases in both current and deferred tax expenses
during the year. As sales revenue increased, both the provision for
land appreciation tax and income tax were higher during the year
as compared with the last year. As a result of newly recognized
fair value gains of our investment properties during the year, a
deferred tax expense of HK$327.1 million (2009: HK$288.5 million)
was recorded.

Investment Properties

The value of investment properties increased by 38.7% to
HK$9,077.3 million (2009: HK$6,543.8 million). It was mainly due
to the completion of the construction of CSC Shenzhen Phase Two
Trade Plaza One, and recognition of its fair value during the year.

Properties Under Development

The value of properties under development increased by 40.9% to
HK$1,978.8 million (2009: 1,404.6 million). Costs for properties
under development were higher than last year as a result of the
ongoing construction of CSC Shenzhen supporting facilities such
as office buildings, commercial facilities and supporting residential
facilities, as well as the acquisition of land for the projects in
Nanchang, Nanning and Heyuan where construction is underway.
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Trade Receivables

Trade receivables increased by 817.2% to HK$234.2 million (2009:
HK$25.5 million). It was mainly because of the significant increases
in the sale of trade center units of CSC Shenzhen Phase Two
Trade Plaza One and Trade Plaza Two in the year under review. As
at 31 March 2010, most of the outstanding balance of trade
receivables is applying for mortgage by the trade center unit
purchasers and the Group believes that risk of collectability is low.

Interest-Bearing Notes

During the vyear, the interest-bearing notes were restructured
between the Group and interest-bearing note holders, which
resulted in a restructuring gain by the Group. Furthermore, the
Group entered into agreements with certain interest-bearing note
holders to buy back a portion of the interest-bearing notes at a
price lower than their book value. On the IPO Date of the
Company, the Group redeemed the remaining outstanding portion
of the interest-bearing notes from the interest-bearing note holders
in accordance with the terms. Details are disclosed in note 31 to
the audited financial statements.

Due to Shareholders

The amount due to shareholders was capitalized on the IPO Date
of the Company. Details are disclosed in note 33 to the audited
financial statements.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group finances its operations primarily through internally
generated funds, bank loans and IPO proceeds.
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Borrowing and Charges on the Group's assets

The Group had HK$3,703.0 million in cash and bank balances
(2009: HK$246.1 million) and HK$4,202.7 million in bank loans,
bills payable and interest-bearing notes (2009: HK$2,522.5 million).
Details of the maturity profile, currency and interest rate structure
of the Group’s bank loans are disclosed in note 29 to the audited
financial statements. The gearing ratio of the Group was 6% (net
debt divided by total equity) as at 31 March 2010, which was
significantly reduced from 51% as at 31 March 2009. Furthermore,
as at 31 March 2010, the Group had unutilized banking facilities
of approximately RMB1,750.0 million. The Group will deploy the
unutilized banking facilities as appropriate depending on project
development needs and working capital status.

As at 31 March 2010, the Group had pledged certain of its
buildings, hotel properties, investment properties, properties under
development, leasehold land and properties held for sale to secure
loans from various banks. Details are disclosed in note 29 to the
audited financial statements.

Net Current Assets and Current ratio

As at 31 March 2010, the Group had net current assets of
HK$2,066.9 million (2009: net current liabilities of HK$642.3
million). Current ratio increased to 1.7 (2009: 0.6).

Contingent Liabilities

The Group has provided guarantees in respect of banking facilities
granted by certain banks in connection with the mortgage loans
entered into by purchasers of the Group's trade centers and bank
loans entered into by lessees of the Group’s residential properties.
As at 31 March 2010, the guarantees amounted to HK$217.9
million (2009: HK$95.9 million). The guarantees granted to
purchasers will be released when the purchasers obtain the
building ownership certificate which will then be pledged with the
banks. For leased residential properties, the guarantees will be
released accordingly along with the repayment of loan principals
by the lessees.

Capital Commitment

As at 31 March 2010, the Group had future capital expenditure
contracted but not yet provided for of HK$48.9 million (2009:
HK$399.8 million), and authorized but not yet contracted for of
HK$5,641.4 million (2009: Nil).
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Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group conducts its business mainly in Renminbi, along with
our income and expenses, assets and liabilities. The management
considers the fluctuation of Renminbi does not have significant
impact on the Group's operation. The Group has not issued any
financial instruments for hedging purposes.

Acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and associated
companies

The Group has no material acquisition and disposal of subsidiary
and associated company in the financial year.

Restriction on Sales

Pursuant to certain land grant contracts entered by CSC Shenzhen,
the saleable GFA of properties of CSC Shenzhen built on these
parcels of land is limited to 30% of the total GFA that can be
built. The Group holds and constructs the properties with sales
restriction for leases and for self use.

Pursuant to the land grant contracts entered by CSC Nanchang
and CSC Nanning, respectively, the saleable GFA of trade centres
and storage built on these parcels of land of these projects are
limited to 60% of the total GFA that is built for such purpose.
This restriction does not apply to the properties that are built for
residential, commercial and other uses. Despite the restriction, the
Group plans to hold not less than 50% of the total GFA of such
properties for leasing. Management considers the Group can be
benefited by maintaining this optimal mix between properties held
for sales and for investments.

Human Resources

As at 31 March 2010, the Group had a workforce of approximately
1,200 people, including approximately 1,000 people directly
employed under the Group and approximately 200 people
employed under our jointly-controlled entities. The Group aims to
recruit, retain and develop competent individuals committed to its
long-term success and growth. Remunerations and other benefits
of employees are reviewed annually both in response to market
conditions and trends, and based on qualifications, experience,
responsibilities and performance. In addition to basic salaries and
other staff benefits, discretionary bonus and share options may be
awarded to employees with outstanding performance and
contribution to the Group. As at 31 March 2010, no option has
been granted under the Share Option Scheme.
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Project Portfolio
BHR#AEAB

Properties held for Sale/Finance Lease

REHE MEHEME

Project site

Group's area Approx. GFA Completion
Project Location Interest (sq.m.) Description (sq.m.) Year
ERGRER BuBEER
EH 1 8 AEEEL (FHXK) AT (FHXK) BIFEH
China South City Shenzhen No. 1 Hua Nan Main Road, Pinghu, 100% 1,060,000 Phase One trade centers 24,270 2004
RN Longgang District, Shenzhen, China —BRGH0
BRI R i 2 T M
EHRE-R
Phase Two residential facilities 29,800 2008
— West Garden
ZHEERERS
—EFAR
Phase Two commercial and other 43,902 2008
supporting facilities
— Warehouse
“HBEREBRERNE
— B
Phase Two trade centers 104,846 2009
“HR SR
Properties for Investment
BEYE
Group’s Approx. GFA
Project Location Interest Description (sq.m.) Lease Term
FEE WOREER
HH 3 B #ix AR (FHK) BHEY
China South City Shenzhen No. 1 Hua Nan Main Road, 100% Phase One trade centers 167,116 Medium Term
Y ZE Pinghu, Longgang District, —HZ 540 Lease
Shenzhen, China FEIZZ A
AR EDR YT #E R
FHERAEH Phase One Commercial and 22,360 Medium Term
other supporting facilities Lease

— Business centers
—HEmEREMEERE
— BB

Phase Two trade centers
ZHIRZ G

RHRY

Medium Term
Lease

THRY

352,818
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Properties under Development — with land use rights certificates

BRPUE — AETERESES

Group's  Approx. Project GFA under Estimated completion
Project/Location Interest site area’  Approx. GFA?  Description” construction  Stage of completion calendar year
X5 )
BB/ %% L EEMRER MOBRLER? ABEC EREREER RAKER B IEE
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.)
(F5) (F5#) (F5K)
1. China South City Shenzhen 100% 1,060,000 2,120,000 a. Commercial and other supporting facilities 90,000 Interior furnishing 2nd to 4th quarter
RINERR BEREMEERE EREE of 2010
No. 1 Hua Nan Main Road, Pinghu, WIFE-ZENZE
Longgang District, Shenzhen, China b. Trade centers 340,000  Planning and foundation work 2012
PRI R R E T PO LI REPRILATRE
ERRE-H ¢. Commercial and other supporting facilities 160,000 Planning and foundation work 2012
BEREMRERE RERRBETR
d. Remaining portions —  Planning —
BTH2 REH
2. China South City Nanning 100% 890,000 2,397,000 a. Trade centers 470,000 Planning and foundation work 2011-2012
HEEHR PO LI REPRILETR
No. 56, Shajing Blvd, Jiangnan b. Residential facilities 340,000  Planning and foundation work 2011-2012
District, Nanning City, Guangxi TERERIE RERREETR
Zhuang Autonomous Region, China ¢. Commercial and other supporting facilities 520,000  Planning and foundation work 2011-2012
PEEALEEREEED BEREBRERME RERRMETRE
THE D KES6H d. Remaining portions —  Planning —
BTED HEP
3. China South City Nanchang 100% 1,050,000 2,482,000 . Trade centers 430,000 Planning and foundation work 2012
HEEEN RHPL RETREETR
Honggutan New District, b. Residential facilities 300,000  Planning and foundation work 2011-2012
Nanchang City, FERERHE RERRMETR
Jiangxi Province, China ¢. Commercial and other supporting facilities 190,000  Planning and foundation work 2011-2012
PEIRABETAAENE BERAMRERE BEPRIETRE
d. Remaining portions —  Planning -
BTHD P
4. China South City Heyuan 70% 487,000 994,000 a. Residential facilities 260,000 Foundation work 2011-2012
ARERN EERERIE BETRE
Linjiang Town, Zijin County, Heyuan, b. Remaining portions —  Planning -
Guangdong Province, China BTHS HEH

FEEREIRTREHETA

Note 1:  The Group has acquired these parcels of land as at 31 March 2010. Ft %1 -

Note 2:  The approximate gross floor area do not include the area of underground Bt 52 :
facilities.

Note 3:  Commercial and other supporting facilities include area of underground B 53

facilities.
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Financial Summary

B B E

Year ended 31 March

HE3A31ALEE
2010 2009 2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FH#ETT FAET FAT FAT
RESULTS % i&
Revenue A 1,570,229 224,399 562,880 136,081
Gross Profit ESl 982,707 70,759 276,904 97,568
Profit before tax 7 B ) 2,112,991 1,025,740 796,850 576,930
Income tax expense FEHRHEX (785,345) (272,170) (241,726) (403,091)
Profit for the year REEZHE 1,327,646 753,570 555,124 173,839
Attributable to: TH & A
Owners of the parent NSEFSUN 1,329,593 754,048 556,075 174,375
Minority interests DBk R (1,947) (478) (951) (536)
Net profit/(loss) excluding fair KT IREWELFER
value gains on investment mRIAEANETEN
properties & related tax effect  FF|E,(FEE) 408,745 (106,512) 57,225 (29,879)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES B ER & &
Non-current assets FEREEE 11,379,165 8,398,009 5,774,890 4,009,832
Current assets REEE 4,920,603 923,306 1,531,378 371,089
Total assets EEBE 16,299,768 9,321,315 7,306,268 4,380,921
Current liabilities mBAE 2,853,708 1,565,645 935,479 384,408
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 4,419,375 3,259,712 2,728,237 1,474,084
Total liabilities BERE 7,273,083 4,825,357 3,663,716 1,858,492
Equity attributable to owners of & XA A A EL
parent = 8,913,024 4,461,963 3,608,780 2,500,805
Minority interests DYRRE 113,661 33,995 33,772 21,624
Total equity BREE 9,026,685 4,495,958 3,642,552 2,522,429

Earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent

FERBATSEERERKAAZERERN

Basic SN HK25.32 cents  HK16.76 cents N/A N/A
#l eIl 98 A & A
Diluted g HK25.10 cents  HK16.76 cents N/A N/A
Al A @A @A
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jographical Details of Directors and Key Management
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Executive Directors

Mr. CHENG Chung Hing, aged 49, is our Co-Chairman and an
executive Director. He is a co-founder of our Group and has been
appointed as a Director of the Company since 2 August 2002. He
is primarily responsible for formulating the overall strategies and
assessing the performance of the Group as well as providing
leadership for the Board. He has more than 25 vyears of
management experience in the manufacturing, wholesale and
distribution businesses. Mr. Cheng has been awarded the “Young
Industrialist Awards of Hong Kong 1997” from the Federation of
Hong Kong Industries, the Distinguished International Entrepreneur
of the Year Award 1997 from San Francisco State University and
the Chinese Outstanding Entrepreneur Award 2008 from the China
Enterprise Confederation and the China Enterprise Directors
Association. Mr. Cheng is a member of the 3rd, the 4th and the
5th Shenzhen Committee of the Chinese People's Political
Consultative Conference. Mr. Cheng is also presently the honorary
life president of the Hong Kong Gemstone Manufacturers’
Association Limited, foundation honorary chairman of Gem and
Jewelry Committee of China General Chamber of Commerce,
honorary chairman of Zhejiang Pearl Trade Association, chairman
of the Shenzhen Logistics and Supply Chain Management
Association, vice chairman of the Shenzhen Industrial and
Economic Association, a standing member of the China Enterprise
Confederation and the China Enterprise Directors Association and
vice president of the China Chamber of International Commerce
Shenzhen. Mr. Cheng is also the chairman of Man Sang
International Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 938), and China Metro-Rural Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the NYSE Amex, formerly known as
the American Stock Exchange (ticker symbol: CNR). Mr. Cheng is
the younger brother of Mr. Cheng Tai Po, a non-executive Director
of the Company.

Mr. LEUNG Moon Lam, aged 54, is a Chief Executive Officer and
executive Director. He is a co-founder of our Group and has been
appointed as a Director of the Company since 1 June 2002. He is
primarily responsible for the execution of the Board’s decision and
the overall management of the Group. He has more than 25 years
of management experience in the garment manufacturing,
wholesale and distribution businesses. Mr. Leung received the
Chinese Outstanding Entrepreneur Award 2008 from the China
Enterprise  Confederation and the China Enterprise Directors
Association. Mr. Leung was a member of the 3rd and the 4th
Shenzhen Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management
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Conference. At present, Mr. Leung is a member of the Liaoning
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, the vice chairman of the lJiangxi Chinese Overseas
Friendship Association, chairman of Shenzhen Textile Industry
Association, the executive chairman of the Shenzhen Leather
Industry Association, an honorary chairman of the Shenzhen
Longgang Charity Association and the Honorary Professor of
Business of Hang Seng School of Commerce. Also, Mr. Leung is
the chairman of Wetter (China) Limited and Kings Faith
International Limited.

Professor XU Yang, aged 71, is an executive Director. Professor
Xu joined our Group as a senior consultant of our Company in
September 2002, and was appointed as a Director since 4 February
2008. He is primarily responsible for the general development
direction, operational strategy, market promotion, and
governmental relations of the Company. Professor Xu has over 20
years of experience in capital operations management, focusing on
optimizing allocation and managing the use of capital in business
operations. From 1992 to 2000, Professor Xu was the chairman of
Shenzhen Investment Limited (previously known as Shum Yip
Investment Limited, which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 604). He was the vice chairman of the 2nd
Shenzhen Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, deputy chief secretary of the Shenzhen Municipal
Government and director of the Shenzhen Economic Development
Bureau. Professor Xu is currently the permanent honorary chairman
of the Shenzhen Industrial and Economic Association, honorary
chairman of Shenzhen Enterprise Confederation and Shenzhen
Entrepreneur Association and deputy chairman of China National
Industrial and Economic Association. Professor Xu graduated from
Harbin Institute of Technology in 1964. He completed the Stanford
executive program at Stanford University in 1988. He also holds
the qualification of senior engineer.
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Non-Executive Directors

Dr. MA Kai Cheung, s8s, 885, aged 68, is our Co-Chairman and a
non-executive Director. He is a co-founder of our Group and has
been appointed as a Director of the Company since 2 August
2002. He is primarily responsible for advising on the formulation
of the Company's general business models and development
strategies and major issues. Dr. Ma has more than 40 years of
management experience in garment distribution and manufacturing
businesses. Dr. Ma was awarded a Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) and
a Silver Bauhinia Star (SBS) by the Government of Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region in 2003 and 2009 respectively. Since
1998, he has been a committee member of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference. Dr. Ma is the president of
Shenzhen Overseas Chinese International Association, permanent
honorary president of Hong Kong Chiu Chow Chamber of
Commerce Limited, president and standing committee member of
Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community Organizations,
president of Hong Kong & Kowloon Chiu Chow Public Association
and permanent honorary president of Federation of Hong Kong
Chiu Chow Community Organizations. Dr. Ma received an
honorary doctoral degree in philosophy from the Morrison
University in the United States in 2004. He received a fellowship
from the Asian Knowledge Management Association in 2008. Dr.
Ma is also the chairman of Tak Sing Alliance Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 00126).

Mr. SUN Kai Lit Cliff, 885, /,, aged 56, is a non-executive
Director. He is a co-founder of our Group and has been appointed
as a Director of the Company since 2 August 2002. He is primarily
responsible for advising on the formulation of the Company’s
general business models, development strategies and major issues.
Mr. Sun is an associate of the Institute of Industrial Engineers of
Ohio and has over 30 years of management experience in the
businesses of wholesale distribution and manufacturing of
kitchenware and other metal and plastic products.
appointed as Justice of the Peace and was awarded a Bronze
Bauhinia Star (BBS) by the Government of Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region respectively in July 2003 and July 2006. At
present, Mr. Sun is a member of the 10th Zhejiang Committee of
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and a member
of the Standing Committee of the 13th Ningbo Committee of
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. He is also the
chairman of the Federation of Hong Kong Industries, honorary
chairman of The Hong Kong Exporters’ Association, honorary
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management
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chairman of the Hong Kong Q Mark Council, president of the
Hong Kong Plastics Manufacturers Association Ltd., honorary
president of the Shenzhen Federation of Industrial Economics and
the honorary founding president and executive vice president of
Shenzhen Overseas Chinese International Association. Mr. Sun is
the executive director of Kinox Enterprises Limited and Kin Hip
Metal and Plastic Factory Ltd. He is currently an independent non-
executive director of Ming Fai International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 3828) and Ka Shui International Holdings Ltd., (stock code:
822), which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Dr. MA Wai Mo, aged 66, is a non-executive Director. He is a
co-founder of our Group and has been appointed as a Director of
the Company since 2 August 2002. He is primarily responsible for
advising on the formulation of the Company’s general business
models, development strategies and major issues. He has more
than 30 years of management experience in the printing and
packaging, manufacturing, wholesale and distribution businesses.
Dr. Ma was a member of the 3rd and the 4th Shenzhen
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, the chairman of the 13th, 14th, 16th and 17th Hong
Kong Corrugated Paper Manufacturers’ Association. Currently, he
serves as a member of the Standing Committee of the Chaoyang
District Shantou City Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, the vice chairman of the 7th general
committee of the China Packaging Technology Association, the
honorary chairman of the 7th Shenzhen Packaging Association, the
vice president of the 7th and the 8th Guangdong Printing and
Replicate Association, the executive vice president of the
Guangdong Overseas Chinese Enterprises Association, the honorary
founding president and the executive vice president of Shenzhen
Overseas Chinese International Association. Dr. Ma is also the
chairman of Luk Ka International Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary of Luk Ka Overseas Investments Limited. Dr. Ma was
awarded the World’s Outstanding Chinese in 2005 and received
an honorary doctor of science degree from Armstrong University
in 2005.

Q China South City Holdings Limited Annual Report 2009/10
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Mr. CHENG Tai Po, aged 58, is a non-executive Director. He has
been appointed as the Director of the Company since 30 April
2010 and is primarily responsible for advising on the formulation
of the Group’s general business models, development strategies
and major issues. Mr. Cheng has over 25 years’ experience in
manufacturing, wholesale and distribution businesses. He is a
board member of the Zhanjiang Ocean University, China and a
general committee member of the Hong Kong Jewelry
Manufacturers’ Association Ltd. Mr. Cheng is also the director and
deputy chairman of Man Sang International Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 938)
and the director and vice-chairman of China Metro-Rural Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the NYSE Amex (formerly known as
the American Stock Exchange) (ticker symbol: CNR). Mr. Cheng is
the elder brother of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing, the Co-Chairman and
executive Director and the controlling Shareholder of the Company.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. SHI Wan Peng, aged 73, has been an independent non-
executive Director since 4 September 2009. Mr. Shi graduated
from Beijing Jiaotong University, previously known as Northern
Jiaotong University in 1960. He is a professor-level senior engineer.
Mr. Shi served as Deputy Director of the Transport Bureau of the
State  Economic Commission, Director of the Economic and
Technical Cooperation Bureau, Director of the Production and
Dispatch Bureau of the State Development Planning Commission,
deputy officer (of ministerial grade) of the State Economic and
Trade Commission, president of the China Textiles Association, the
alternate member of the 15th Central Committee of the
Communist Party of China, a standing member of the 10th
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference. Mr. Shi is currently the vice chairman of the World
Packaging Organization, the president of the Asian Packaging
Federation, president of China Packaging Federation, an
independent director of HuaBei Expressway Co., Ltd., a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 916) and also
an independent non-executive director of CPMC Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 906). Mr. Shi has worked in the People’s Republic of China
("PRC") government departments and organizations for more than
40 years, and has been engaged in the areas of planning and
management of government economic work as well as in
economic operations, with extensive experience in the management
of macroeconomic affairs in development of economy in the PRC.
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Mr. LEUNG Kwan Yuen Andrew, Gs8s, sss, /,, aged 59, has been
an independent non-executive Director of the Company since 4
September 2009. He has more than 30 years of management
experience in the textile manufacturing, wholesale and distribution
businesses. Mr. Leung is a member of the Industrial (First)
Functional Constituency of the Legislative Council of Hong Kong,
also a member of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference. Mr. Leung is currently the
chairman of the Vocational Training Council, the honorary
chairman of Textile Council of Hong Kong, a council member of
the Hong Kong Trade Development Council, the honorary president
of the Federation of Hong Kong Industries, a fellow of The Textiles
Institute as well as The Clothing and Footwear Institute in the
United Kingdom. In addition, Mr. Leung is the chairman of Sun
Hing Knitting Factory Limited, he is also the independent non-
executive director of Dah Sing Banking Group Limited, the
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, (stock
code: 2356). During the period from 12 January 2007 to 18 April
2010, Mr. Leung was an independent non-executive director of
Meadville Holdings Limited, a company withdrawing its listing of
shares from the Stock Exchange effective 19 April 2010 (stock
code: 3313).

Mr. LI Wai Keung, aged 53, has been an independent non-
executive Director of the Company since 4 September 2009. Mr. Li
has more than 32 years of experience in financial management.
Mr. Li graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
holds a master's degree in business administration from the
University of East Asia, Macau, currently known as the University
of Macau. He is a fellow of The Chartered Association of Certified
Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Li is the executive director and chief financial
officer of GDH Limited, he is also a non-executive director of
Guangdong Investment Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 270) and an
independent non-executive director of Shenzhen Investment
Limited, Hans Energy Company Limited and Hong Long Holdings
Limited, the companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock codes: 604, 554 and 1383, respectively). He is a
Director of Shenzhen City Airport (Group) Company Limited, a
member on the Council of the Hong Kong Chinese Orchestra
Limited, and serves as the vice chairman of the Financial and
Accounting Affairs Steering Committee of the Hong Kong Chinese
Enterprises Association.
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Key Management

Mr. FUNG Sing Hong Stephen, aged 45, is our chief financial
officer. Mr. Fung joined our Group in July 2006, and is responsible
for formulating corporate financing strategy, investor relations and
the overall financial management of the Group. Mr. Fung
graduated from the University of Wales, United Kingdom with a
master's degree in business administration. He is a member of
both the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Fung
has more than 16 years of experience in financial management,
mergers and acquisitions, capital markets financing and corporate
restructuring. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Fung was an
executive director and the chief financial officer of Guangdong
Investment Limited ("GDI”). From December 2002 to November
2004, Mr. Fung served as an executive director and the chief
financial officer of Kingway Brewery Holdings Limited ("Kingway”).
Both GDI and Kingway are companies listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock codes: 270 and 124, respectively). Mr.
Fung was also a key member of the Guangdong Enterprises
(Holdings) Limited (“GDE") restructuring team and has been
extensively involved in the US$5.3 billion debt restructuring of
GDE.

Mr. CHEN lJiacheng, aged 47, is our chief operating officer. He
joined our Group on 18 June 2010, and is responsible for overall
operation management of the Group. He has extensive experience
in corporate governance and modern corporate management. Mr.
Chen obtained a bachelor degree in engineering from Northwest
Industrial University in 1983 and a master degree in business
administration from Tsinghua University in 1999. Prior to joining
our Group, Mr. Chen was the executive director and chief
executive director of XinAo Gas Holdings Limited, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2688).
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Ms. TSE Man Yu, aged 39, is our deputy chief financial officer
and company secretary. Ms. Tse joined our Group in February
2008. She assists the chief financial officer in the overall financial
management of the Group and is responsible for the company
secretarial duties. Ms. Tse graduated from the City University of
Hong Kong with a bachelor of science (honours) degree in finance.
She is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Ms. Tse has more than 13 years of experience in
financial management, mergers and acquisitions, corporate finance
and asset management. Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Tse was
the assistant chief financial officer of GDI, which is a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 270).
Ms. Tse was an alternate director of Guangdong Development
Fund Limited (“GDF”), which is a company listed on the London
Stock Exchange (code: gdf), and a director of Guangdong
Investment Management Limited, which is the fund manager of
GDF. Ms. Tse had also been senior corporate finance executive of
Tung Fong Hung (Holdings) Limited (now known as Freeman
Corporation Limited) and Sing Pao Media Group Limited (now
known as China Gamma Group Limited), which were companies
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock codes: 279
and 164, respectively).

Mr. HUANG Wei Sheng, aged 46, is the group deputy general
manager. He has been with us since October 2002, and is
responsible for the administration, government relations and legal
aspects to manage the works and assist the executive Directors to
monitor the management and operation of each project of the
Group. Mr. Huang taught at the business management faculty of
Guangdong Shaoguan University. In 1989, he received a
postgraduate programme diploma in business administration from
Jinan University. Mr. Huang has approximately 13 vyears of
experience in international trade and business management. Mr.
Huang had been working for the China Resources National
Corporation as International Business Engineer and Shenzhen
Nanyang Trading Company. Before he joined our Group, he had
worked as deputy general manager for Man Hing Industry
Development (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd., a PRC subsidiary of Man Sang
International.
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Mr. JIANG Kai, aged 58, is the group general manager of the
construction department. He joined our Group in January 2007,
and is responsible for managing construction projects of the
Group, including co-ordinating the planning and designs, managing
tenders and bids, budgeting and costing and construction
management. Mr. Jiang has over 15 years of management
experience in the construction industry. Mr. Jiang had been
working for the 1st branch of the Shenzhen Architectural Design
Institute as chief engineer, Shenzhen Construction Investment
Holdings Ltd. as manager of the construction department and
Shenzhen New World Group Co., Ltd. as group deputy general
manager. Mr. Jiang graduated from the Underground Construction
Faculty of Tongji University in 1982 with a bachelor degree in
underground construction, and holds a qualification of senior
engineer.

Mr. JUNG Minho, aged 47, is the general manager of commercial
operation of the Group. He joined our Group in June 2010, and is
responsible for the management of the retail and department
store business as well as the supporting commercial facilities of
the Group. Mr. Jung graduated from Seoul National University in
1987 with a master degree of arts in economics. He was awarded
the Magnolia Award from the Shanghai City Government in 2009
in appreciation of his outstanding contribution to Shanghai's
development. Before joining the Group, Mr. Jung worked for
Shanghai Hansol Potential Paper Co. Ltd. as the Assistant to
General Manager and the Head of Treasury Department, and held
a number of managerial positions with Shanghai Emart
Supermarket Co. Ltd., including the general manager, East China
and the development general manager — China Region.

Mr. WANG De Wen, aged 32, is the vice president of CSC Xi‘an.
He joined our Group in October 2009, and is responsible for the
overall operations and daily management of the CSC Xi'an project.
Mr. Wang graduated from Cornell University in 2006 with a
master degree in applied statistics. Prior to joining our Group, Mr.
Wang was an analyst in the investment research department of
Guosen Securities, the project manager of the investment banking
division of Great Wall Securities Co. Ltd. He was also the
managing director of Shenzhen Howard Investment Co., Ltd., and
was responsible for overseeing the operations of various logistic
trade centers.
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Mr. LIU Xiao Dong, aged 39, is the executive deputy general
manager of CSC Shenzhen. He joined our Group in November
2004, and is responsible for the overall operation and daily
management of CSC Shenzhen. Mr. Liu graduated from Poiters
University in France with a master's degree in business
administration. Mr. Liu has approximately 15 years of experience in
marketing and management. From 1992 to 1993, he worked for
Jiangxi Shangrao Social Science Association as a reporter and
editor. From 1993 to 1999, he worked for Jiangxi Jiang China-
Japan Sales Co. Ltd. and was responsible for marketing strategy
and sales management. From 1999 to 2004, he worked for
Jiangzhong Medicine Manufacturing Group and held various
positions including strategic planning manager, human resources
department manager, regional director of Eastern China region
and was responsible for developing new businesses in the
Shanghai, Jiangsu, Zhejiang, Anhui and Jiangxi markets.

Ms. ZHENG Miao Fang, aged 29, is the deputy general manager
of CSC Shenzhen. She joined our Group in 2003, and is
responsible for managing human resources, administration, finance,
information technology, legal and purchase departments, etc. Ms.
Zheng graduated from the School of Finance and Economics of
Guangdong University of Foreign Studies in 2003, majoring in
accounting and was accredited the PRC Certificate of Accounting
Professional. Ms. Zheng has abundant experience in administration
and human resources fields.

Mr. KUANG Kun Lin, aged 48, is the deputy general manager of
CSC Shenzhen. He joined our Group in June 2009, and is
responsible for overseeing the exhibition and conference services
and operations of the Group. Mr. Kuang graduated from Wuhan
University in 2005 with a doctoral degree in economics. Mr.
Kuang is the current vice president of Shenzhen Scientific Life
Researching Society. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Kuang was
the general manager of China Hi-Tech Fair Exhibition Center, and
has extensive experience in exhibition operations.

Mr. LIU Ze Bin, aged 56, is the deputy general manager and the
general manager of the construction department of CSC Shenzhen.
He joined our Group in June 2010, and is responsible for managing
all the construction projects. Mr. Liu graduated from Tongji University
in 1977, majoring in architecture and holds a qualification of senior
engineer. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Liu was the an assistant to
director of The 8th Institute of Project Planning and general manager
of Shenzhen Nanyou Design and Engineering Co. Ltd., chairman of
Shenzhen Nan Shang Real Estate Development Co. Ltd., general
manager of Shenzhen Fuyuan Real Estate Development Limited and
the group vice president of Shenzhen Yili Group. He has over 15
years of experience in construction management.
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Ms. ZHANG Li Ling, aged 45, is the general manager of Shenzhen
First Asia Pacific. She joined our Group in June 2004, and is
responsible for property management, planning, training and
administration of CSC Shenzhen and liaison with various
governmental departments in surrounding areas. Ms. Zhang
graduated from Jiangxi Teachers University in 1995. Ms. Zhang has
approximately 10 years of experience in the property development
industry. From 1999 to 2001, she worked as an assistant manager in
the property department of Shenzhen Ancheng Property
Development Co. Ltd., and from 2002 to 2003, as an assistant
property manager of Hutchison Whampoa Properties (Shenzhen)
Company Limited.

Mr. ZHANG Xue Fang, aged 46, is the executive deputy general
manager of CSC Nanchang. He joined our Group in 2007, and is
responsible for the overall operations and daily management of CSC
Nanchang. Mr. Zhang graduated from Jinggangshan University in
1981, majoring in Chinese. He also completed a postgraduate
program at the School of International Politics in Shandong University
in 1999. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zhang held senior
managerial positions with a Jiangxi national defense industrial large-
scale corporation, was a chancellor of Jiangxi National Defense
Industrial Staff University, an adjunct professor of Jiangxi Normal
University and general manager of Yuan Wang Group. He was also
engaged in educational property development, and was an executive
council member of China Market Economics Society.

Mr. DENG Jian Ming, aged 42, is the deputy general manager of
CSC Nanchang. He joined our Group in January 2010, and is
responsible for the financial management and financing of CSC
Nanchang. He graduated from lJiangxi College of Finance and
Economics in 1993 with a degree in economics. Before joining our
Group, Mr. Deng held various positions in branch business
department and different departments of the Jiangxi Province
sub-branch of China Construction Bank. He has over 17 years of
experience in project evaluation, financing and capital management.

Mr. ZHENG Li Yang, aged 44, is the deputy general manager of
CSC Nanning. He joined our Group in November 2006, and was
seconded to Nanning in May 2008. He is responsible for the
overall operations and daily management of the CSC Nanning
project. Mr. Zheng graduated from Party School of the Central
Committee of C.P.C. in 2000, majoring in Economic Management.

Mr. YU Shao Guang, aged 31, is the deputy general manager of
CSC Heyuan. He joined our Group in 2005, and is responsible for
the overall operations and daily management of the Heyuan
project. He graduated from Sun Yat-Sen University in 2002,
majoring in Economic Law. Prior to joining our Group, he worked
for Man Hing Industry Development (Shenzhen) Company Ltd. and
was responsible for property management.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have pleasure in
presenting this annual report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2010.

Initial Public Offering

The Company listed its shares on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on IPO Date and issued 1,500,000,000 shares at an
offer price of HK$2.10 per share.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Group is developing and operating
the large-scale integrated logistics and trade centers in China,
providing a comprehensive trading platform for domestic and
international wholesale suppliers, buyers, manufacturers and
distributors. With its unique business model, the Group not only
sells and leases well-designed, high quality trade center units for
businesses to display and sell their products, but also provides
trade center occupants and their customers with a full range of
integrated logistics and trade center services such as warehousing
and on-site logistics services, and supporting services and facilities
such as banking, on-site government services, conference and
exhibition facilities, hotels, restaurants and office facilities in a bid
to offer one-stop convenient supply chain solutions.

Results and Dividends

The Group's results for the year ended 31 March 2010 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are
set out in the financial statements on pages 75 to 180 of this
annual report.

The Board of the Company recommends the payment of a final
dividend of HK2 cents per share in respect of the year ended 31
March 2010 (2009: nil). Subject to the approval of the shareholders
of the Company (the “Shareholders”) at the annual general
meeting to be held on 30 August 2010 (the "AGM"), the
proposed final dividend will be distributed on or about 13
September 2010 to Shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on 30 August 2010.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 25
August 2010 to 30 August 2010, both days inclusive. In order to
be qualified for the proposed final dividend and who are entitled
to attend at the AGM, all transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with the
Company's share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
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Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30
p.m. on 24 August 2010.

Use of Proceeds from the Company’s Listing

The proceeds from the Company’s issue of new shares at the time
of its listing on the Stock Exchange on 30 September 2009, after
deduction of the related issuance expenses, amounted to
approximately HK$2,996 million.

As at year ended 31 March 2010, HK$1,137 million of the net
proceeds has been utilized in accordance with the proposed
application set out in the section headed “Future plans and use of
proceeds” contained in the prospectus of the Company dated 17
September 2009. The unutilized balances have been placed as
deposit with banks and financial institutions.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the section “Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity” and in note 36 to the financial
statements, respectively.

Distributable Reserves

Details of the Company’s reserves available for distribution as at
31 March 2010, calculated in accordance with the provision of
Section 79B of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, amounted
to HK$471,858,000, of which HK$119,591,000 has been proposed
as final dividend for the year are disclosed in note 11 to the
financial statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out
in note 13 to the financial statements.

The valuation of the Group’s properties were approximately
RMB22,818 million at 30 June 2009, details of which were
disclosed in the property valuation of the prospectus of the
Company date 17 September 2009. For the properties held by the
Group for own use, the additional depreciation that would be
charged against the consolidated income statement of the Group
had those properties been stated at such valuation will be
approximately HK$13,262,000 for the year ended 31 March 2010.
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Donations

During the year, the Group made charitable donations totalling
HK$1,000,000 to various charitable organizations.

Subsidiaries

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2010 are set
out in note 18 to the financial statements.

Directors

The Directors since the IPO Date and up to the date of this annual
report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Co-Chairman)
Mr. Leung Moon Lam (Chief Executive Officer)
Professor Xu Yang

Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Ma Kai Cheung, s8s, 88s (Co-Chairman)

Mr. Sun Kai Lit Cliff, 8ss, sp

Dr. Ma Wai Mo

Mr. Cheng Tai Po (appointed on 30 April 2010)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Shi Wan Peng (appointed on 4 September 2009)

Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew, GBs, SBS, JP
(appointed on 4 September 2009)

Mr. Li Wai Keung (appointed on 4 September 2009)

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association (the
“Articles”), Mr. Leung Moon Lam, Mr. Sun Kai Lit Cliff, Mr. Cheng
Tai Po, Mr. Shi Wan Peng, Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew and Mr.
Li Wai Keung shall retire from office and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of independent non-executive Directors
pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Rules governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The
Company considers all independent non-executive Directors are
independent.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the executive Directors has entered into service contract
with the Company while each of the non-executive Directors
(except Mr. Cheng Tai Po) and independent non-executive Directors
has entered into letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of three years from 30 September 2009. Mr. Cheng Tai Po
has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of 3 years commencing from 30 April 2010. The service
contract or letter of appointment may be terminated by either
party thereto by giving not less than three months’ prior written
notice.

None of the Directors has entered into any service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts of Significance

None of the Directors had a material beneficial interest, whether
directly or indirectly, in any significant contract to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, its holding companies or a
subsidiary of its holding companies was a party during the year or
as at 31 March 2010.

Biographical Information of Directors

Brief biographical information of Directors and Key Management
of the Company are set out in the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Key Management” on pages 41 to 51.
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Enforcement of the Deed of Non-Competition

Pursuant to a deed of non-competition, dated 4 September 2009
("Non-Competition Undertaking”), entered into by, each of Mr.
Cheng Chung Hing, Mr. Cheng Tai Po and Mr. Leung Moon Lam,
each of them has undertaken with the Company (for itself and on
behalf of each other member of the Group) that so long as the
Company is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and
so long as any of:

(i) in respect of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing, he remains as the
controlling shareholder or a director of the Company;

(i) in respect of Mr. Cheng Tai Po, he remains as the controlling
shareholder of the Company;

(i) in respect of Mr. Leung Moon Lam, he remains as a director
of the Company,

that he shall not, and shall procure his associates not to, either
alone or jointly with any other person or entity, or for any person,
firm or company, or as principal, partner, director, employee,
consultant or agent through any body corporate, partnership, joint
venture or other contractual arrangement, be engaged, invested,
or otherwise involved, whether as a shareholder, director,
employee, partner, agent or otherwise, directly or indirectly, in the
carrying on of any business in any form or manner in China that
is in competition or is likely to be in the competition, directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group, unless those business
opportunity has been first offered to the Group upon terms which
are fair and reasonable and the Board has declined such
opportunity, in accordance with the provisions of the Non-
Competition Undertaking, Mr. Cheng Chung Hing, Mr. Cheng Tai
Po and Mr. Leung Moon Lam or any of them or their respective
associates may pursue such opportunity.

The Company has also received confirmations from Mr. Cheng
Chung Hing, Mr. Cheng Tai Po and Mr. Leung Moon Lam
respectively that they have complied with the Non-Competition
Undertaking for the period from the IPO Date to 31 March 2010.
The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed their
compliance with the Non-Competition Undertaking.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive's Interests in
Securities

As at 31 March 2010, the interests and short positions of the
Directors in the shares of the Company (the “Shares”), underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) as recorded in the register
maintained by the Company under section 352 of the SFO or as
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code"”) were as follows:

Long position in the Shares and Underlying Shares of
the Company

EFERIETBRAENESHER

R2010F3H31H  EE R A A a =k H AR
HEZE(TERBHFLBEGRMITESR
BRE 0 ]) EXVER) B AR TR ([Ifn])
HEROEREEFETHREBHRALRRARE
BHEKPEGPIEIREAETFENELM
SIREEMBETAZESETESFRINIE
SR (MEESFA D AME AR R KR AT
Migm AR

REAT KRG RARKRGHEFE

Number of Shares

&

Approximate
percentage of

the Company'’s
Corporate Personal total issued
Name of Directors Class of Shares interest interest  Family interest ~ Share options Total share capital?
EAATEH
EBTRE
HEERE B &5 AR B A% RIE#EL R B @zt WMHEse
Cheng Chung Hing Ordinary shares/share options 2,456,508,558 10,000,000 — 66,000,000 2,532,508,558 42.21%
SR LmaR R
Ma Kai Cheung Ordinary shares 888,966,649 — — — 888,966,649 14.82%
Leung Moon Lam Ordinary shares/share options 654,874,712% — 2,000,000 66,000,000 722,874,712 12.05%
2k LmAR B R
Sun Kai Lit Cliff Ordinary shares 222,241,662 — 800,000 — 223,041,662 3.72%
BRIz LER
Ma Wai Mo Ordinary shares 223,921,662 — — — 223,921,662 3.73%
SRR TER
Li Wai Keung Ordinary shares — 2,000,000 — — 2,000,000 0.03%
FEH il
Notes: B 7 -
(1) These represent the long positions of the Shares falling to be allotted and issued (1) REATEARF R IEBE R2008F7A31HH H

to the relevant Directors upon the exercise of the outstanding share options of
the Company granted to the Directors as their personal interest under the pre-
IPO share option agreements dated 31 July 2008.

(2) Mr. Cheng Chung Hing owns 50% and 42% of the issued share capital of
Accurate Gain Developments Limited and Proficient Success Limited respectively
which in turn holds 1,339,913,759 and 1,116,594,799 Shares respectively and is
therefore deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 2,456,508,558 Shares.
Mr. Cheng is a director of each of Accurate Gain Developments Limited and
Proficient Success Limited. Mr. Cheng Chung Hing is the younger brother of Mr.
Cheng Tai Po.

RARBERDABEREDZXTHBESE
7 ELAE AN 2R A e R 1T R B AR 1R 9 AT B e B
TTHBRESEOROER -

) MO BB E S Rl A Accurate Gain
Developments Limited } Proficient Success Limited
B#ITIRAS0% R42% - MEZMR AT D RFE
1,339,913,759% A% 15 $1,116,594,799 8% & 15 + &
ERAN B SR A AR BN & $£2,456,508,558 % X 17
OB M e B % 4 B Accurate Gain
Developments Limited } Proficient Success Limited

MESR - BREEESFRMEEZS -
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Dr. Ma Kai Cheung, as beneficial owner and beneficiary of trust and through the
interest of his spouse, being interested in 43.58% of the issued share capital of
Tak Sing Alliance Holdings Limited which through a number of intermediaries,
wholly owns Carrianna Development Limited, Dr. Ma Kai Cheung is therefore
deemed to be interested and duplicated interested in an aggregate of
888,966,649 shares held by Carrianna Development Limited via its holding
company. Dr. Ma is a director of each Tak Sing Alliance Holdings Limited,
Carrianna Development Limited, Sincere United Holdings Limited, Carrianna
Holdings Limited, Gartrend Development Limited and Carrianna (BVI) Ltd.

Mr. Leung Moon Lam owns 80% of the issued share capital of Kings Faith
International Limited which in turn holds 654,874,712 Shares and is therefore
deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 654,874,712 Shares. Mr. Leung
Moon Lam is a director of Kings Faith International Limited.

Mr. Sun Kai Lit Cliff owns the entire interests in Kinox Holdings Limited and is
therefore deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 222,241,662 shares held
by Kinox Holdings Limited.

By virtue of Dr. Ma Wai Mo's 50% shareholding interests in Luk Ka Overseas
Investment Limited which is interested in 100% interests in Luk Ka International
Limited, Dr. Ma is deemed to be interested and duplicate in the interest in the
same 223,921,662 shares held by Luk Ka International Limited.

The percentage shareholding is calculated on the basis of 6,000,000,000 Shares
issued as at 31 March 2010.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2010, to the knowledge
of the Directors, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company had any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be: (i) notified to the Company and
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
the Directors and chief executive were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); (ii) entered in the register kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (iii)
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.
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Interest of Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 March 2010, to the knowledge of the Directors, the
following persons (other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company) had or were deemed or taken to have interests or short
position in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and

3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register & 1§ 53361578 T 17 B A = 52 A9 #E 25 =X
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO: KB
Long Position in the Shares RERGBPHEFE

Number of Shares

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s

or underlying total issued
Name Nature of interest Shares held share capital®
ks EFEATEBTREF
M BB oty HE R B EE BYMOHEILO
Cheng Tai Po Deemed interest in controlled corporation 2,456,508,558" 40.94%
N WREZ B ERER
Personal interest 4,936,000 0.08%
B A#E %
Accurate Gain Developments Limited  Beneficial owner 1,339,913,759? 22.33%
ERERA
Proficient Success Limited Beneficial owner 1,116,594,799% 18.61%
ERERA
Tak Sing Alliance Holdings Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 888,966,649 14.82%
EREE BEEX R ERER
Carrianna (BVI) Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 888,966,649“ 14.82%
WREX B ERRR
Gartrend Development Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 888,966,649% 14.82%
RBERARAT WREZ B ERRER
Carrianna Holdings Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 888,966,649% 14.82%
EEREBEERAA WREL B ERER
Sincere United Holdings Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 888,966,649¢ 14.82%
BRER R EEER
Carrianna Development Limited Beneficial owner 888,966,649% 14.82%
ERERAA
Kings Faith International Limited Beneficial owner 654,874,7120) 10.91%
REREKEERAR ERBEAA
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By virtue of Mr. Cheng Tai Po’s controlling interests of 50% and 38% in the
respective issued share capital of Accurate Gain Developments Limited and
Proficient Success Limited, Mr. Cheng Tai Po is deemed to be interested and
duplicate in the interest in the same 1,339,913,759 shares and 1,116,594,799
shares held by Accurate Gain Developments Limited and Proficient Success
Limited respectively. Mr. Cheng Tai Po is the elder brother of Mr. Cheng Chung
Hing.

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing and Mr. Cheng Tai Po each owns 50% of the issued
share capital of Accurate Gain Developments Limited.

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing and Mr. Cheng Tai Po owns 42% and 38% respectively
of the issued share capital of Proficient Success Limited.

Carrianna Development Limited is wholly owned by Sincere United Holdings
Limited, which in turn is wholly owned by Carrianna Holdings Limited. Carrianna
Holdings Limited is wholly owned beneficially by Gartrend Development Limited
with Dr. Ma Kai Cheung holding one share on trust for Gartrend Development
Limited. Gartrend Development Limited has two classes of issued shares:
ordinary shares and non-voting deferred shares. Dr. Ma Kai Cheung and his
brother Ma Kai Yum each holds 50% of the non-voting deferred shares of
Gartrend Development Limited, which (a) carry no right to attend or vote at, or
to receive notice of, general meetings, (b) do not entitle its holders to receive
dividends until (i) after the holders of ordinary shares have been paid, (i) the
company’s profits available for distribution as dividends exceed
HK$100,000,000,000,000.00 and (iii) the company determines to make such
distribution to the holders of non-voting deferred shares, and (c) rank after the
claims of the ordinary shareholders as regards to repayment of capital in the
event of insolvency in that only one half of the balance of
HK$100,000,000,000,000.00 in the assets of the company (if any) is
distributable among the holders of non-voting deferred shares. All of the
ordinary shares of Gartrend Development Limited are beneficially held by
Carrianna (BVI) Ltd, with one share held by Dr. Ma Kai Cheung on trust for
Carrianna (BVI) Ltd. Carrianna (BVI) Ltd is wholly owned by Tak Sing Alliance
Holdings Limited.

These 654,874,712 shares are held by Kings Faith International Limited, the 80%
issued share capital of which is beneficially owned by Mr. Leung Moon Lam.

The percentage shareholding is calculated on the basis of 6,000,000,000 shares
issued as at 31 March 2010.

as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2010, to the knowledge

of the Director or chief executive of the Company, no other
person (other than a Director or chief executive of the Company)

had,

or were deemed or taken to have interest or short position

in the shares or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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Share Capital

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 34 to the financial statements.

Share Options Schemes
Pre-IPO Share Option Agreements

The Company entered into the pre-IPO share option agreements
to recognize the contribution of and to provide for incentives and
reward to the Directors and certain employees who have
contributed to the economic achievement to the Group (the
“Grantees”). The pre-IPO share option agreements were entered
into on 31 July 2008 to formalize all previous arrangements with
the Grantees. As at 31 March 2010, options to subscribe for a
total of 180,000,000 shares in the Company, representing 3% of
the issued share capital of the Company, at an exercise price
equivalent to 50% of the offer price of the IPO were granted to
the following Grantees:

Options Options

outstanding as Options granted exercised

&3
AN 4 7O 0 BRSO A B A R R
HIEE34 -

BE M HE R E
BRAMBERMBRERS
ARRIETBRAREERMATERERZE
NEFTEERETEE(ARADBEAEE
EEMKEEER TARSRESEH -5
KA BB B AR 0 AT B AR 175 5 72008 4F 7 A
3R] UWESHBERARRAMBBELH -
MR2010F3A31H ' AT IREERE A A%
ERHHEEE0%MITHEERE AR A
& #£180,000,000% I 7 (0 & A A R E 8
TR A3%) R EE R T T I AR A

Options

cancelled upon Options

Options lapsed termination of  outstanding at

Name of Grantees at 1 April 2009 during the year  during the year on expiry employment 31 March 2010
$22009%4A1H #:201043A31H
1 R AT € BRE KLEEEEHE i2 5% 1T 1€ B89
RBAME BikE FHRHBRE ESRTEBRE REIEBEXH =R IR A FE g 12
Directors
E=
Cheng Chung Hing 66,000,000 — — — —_ 66,000,000
g/ 2
Leung Moon Lam 66,000,000 — — — — 66,000,000
2 AR
Other employees 48,000,000 — — — — 48,000,000
Hitg &
180,000,000 — — — — 180,000,000

These share options may be exercised in whole or in part for the
period from 30 September 2009 to 29 September 2012 for the
Directors, whilst for the employees, the exercise period is from 30
September 2009 to 29 September 2011. Upon the respective
expiry date, unexercised share options shall lapse.

As at 31 March 2010, no share options has been exercised under
the above pre-IPO share option agreements.
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Share Option Scheme

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 4 September
2009 (the “Share Option Scheme”) to provide incentives and
reward to selected eligible persons which includes Directors,
employees, officer, agent, consultant or representative of the
Group for their contribution or potential contribution to the
Company or its subsidiaries, which was effective from the IPO
Date. The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme was
summarised in the prospectus of the Company dated 17
September 2009. As at 31 March 2010, the Board had not
granted any options under the Share Option Scheme to the
Directors or employees of the Company or its subsidiaries to
subscribe shares in the Company and no outstanding share options
was exercised during the year under review.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debt
Securities

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive's Interests in Securities” and “Share Option Schemes” in
this report and in note 35 to the financial statements, at no time
during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executives of
the Company (including their spouses or children under 18 years
of age) to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Connected Transaction

Reference is made to the prospectus of the Company issued on 17
September 2009 in relation to, among other things, the deeds of
option and undertaking entered into by each of Mr. Cheng Chung
Hing (“Mr. Cheng”), the Co-Chairman and executive Director of
the Company, and Mr. Leung Moon Lam (“Mr. Leung”), the
executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
and the Company respectively.

On 3 February 2010, Mr. Cheng and Mr. Leung have received
written notices from Man Sang International (B.V.1.) Limited (“Man
Sang BVI") stating, among other things, its intention to acquire
their effective interests in Northeast Logistics City for a total
consideration of US$117,758,638 which would be satisfied by way
of the issuance of new ordinary shares of Man Sang BVI to them
respectively. Mr. Cheng and Mr. Leung have an effective interest
in  Northeast Logistics City of approximately 30% and 11%
respectively. As a result, Mr. Cheng and Mr. Leung have requested
whether the Company would like to exercise the rights of first
offer to purchase such effective interest (the “Rights”).
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The Board has on 19 February 2010 resolved that the Rights
would not be exercised. As Mr. Cheng and Mr. Leung are the
Directors and the substantial shareholders of the Company (as
defined under the Listing Rules), being the connected persons of
the Company (as defined under the Listing Rules), the non-exercise
of the Rights was subject to the requirements of reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval under the
Listing Rules. The Company dispatched a circular to its shareholders
in relation to the non-exercise of the Rights on 3 March 2010 and
an extraordinary general meeting was held on 19 March 2010 to
consider the resolution on the non-exercise of the Rights and
related matters. Such resolution was duly passed as an ordinary
resolution by way of poll by the independent shareholders of the
Company on 19 March 2010.

Where any transactions mentioned in note 41 to the financial
statements constitutes connected transactions, the disclosure and
approval requirements, if any, under the Listing Rules have been
complied with.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities

During the year ended 31 March 2010, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

Bank Borrowings

Details of the Group’s bank borrowings as at 31 March 2010 are
set out in note 29 to the financial statements.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The aggregate sales to the Group’s five largest customers were
less than 30% of the Group’s total revenue. The aggregate
purchases from the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted
for approximately 53% of the Group’'s total purchases and
purchases from the largest supplier accounted for approximately
14% of the Group’s total purchases for year ended 31 March
2010.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any shareholders which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital has any interests in the Group’s
five largest suppliers or customers.
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Events After the Reporting Period

Details of the significant events after the reporting period of the
Group is set out in note 45 of the financial statements.

Corporate Governance

Principal corporate governance adopted by the Company and set
out in the Corporate Governance Report contained in this annual
report.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this report, the Company has maintained
the public float of the issued shares of the Company as required
under the Listing Rules.

Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last four financial years is set out on page 40 of
the annual report.

Auditors

The financial statements have been audited by Messrs. Ernst &
Young who will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the AGM. A resolution for the reappointment of
Messrs. Ernst & Young as auditors of the Company is to be
proposed at the AGM.

For and on behalf of the Board
CHENG CHUNG HING
Co-Chairman & Executive Director

Hong Kong, 13 July 2010
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Corporate Governance Report
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The Company recognizes the value and importance of achieving
high standard of corporate governance to enhance the corporate
performance accountability and is committed to doing so. The
Board is also committed to the principles of the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) contained in the
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

Since the listing of the shares of the Company on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange on the IPO Date, save as disclosed below,
the Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the
CG Code.

The Board of Directors

Board Composition

As at 31 March 2010, the Board comprises nine Directors,
including three executive Directors, three non-executive Directors
and three independent non-executive Directors. On 30 April 2010,
Mr. Cheng Tai Po was appointed as a non-executive Director. The
brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of the Directors and Key
Management” on pages 41 to 51 of this annual report.

Since the IPO Date and up to 31 March 2010, the Board has at all
times met the requirements of rules 3.10(1) and (2) of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive directors with at least one independent non-
executive director possessing appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise.

For the year ended 31 March 2010, all independent non-executive
Directors had confirmed their independence to the Company in
accordance with rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that each of the independent non-executive Directors to
be independent.

Relationship between Directors
Mr. Cheng Tai Po is the brother of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing.

Dr. Ma Kai Cheung and Dr. Ma Wai Mo are investors in
Lianyungang Trendy Materials Trading Center, a property planned
for future development in Jiangsu Province in China. Details are set
out in the prospectus of the Company issued on 17 September

20009.
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Directors’ Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and formulates the Group’s business strategies. The
executive Directors and other management of the Company were
delegated by the Board to implement the strategies and decisions
made by the Board, conducts the day-to-day management of the
Group and applies internal control and risk management
procedures. The Board makes strategies for the Company and
monitors the performance of the management of the Company.

Compliance with the Model Code for Directors’
Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the standards for securities
transactions by the Directors. The Company has made specific
enquiries to all Directors and all Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the standards set out in the Model Code during
the period from the IPO Date and up to 31 March 2010.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing and Dr. Ma Kai Cheung are Co-Chairman
of the Company.

According to the provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. To ensure a
balance of power and authority, Mr. Leung Moon Lam was
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 30
November 2009.

The Chairman provides leadership for the Board and is responsible
for formulating the overall strategies of the Group and assessing
the performance of the Group while the Chief Executive Officer is
responsible for executing the Board’s decision and the overall
management of the Group.
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Board Meetings

The Company was listed on 30 September 2009 and two board
meetings were convened by the Company during the period from
the IPO Date to 31 March 2010. The Company will adopt the
practice of holding board meetings regularly for at least four times
a year at approximately quarterly intervals.

The attendance of the Directors at the board meeting are as
follows:

EFEEER

R FIFR2009F9A30B £ AE AR
BERMDBEE2010F3A31BHE - AR
T/\msﬂﬁﬁwi$§§;§ I N/NECTE T
B BFAREFHETELINRES

-
ER=EE

EZEeANESTHEBROT

Number of
attendance
Directors ESns B RE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Co-Chairman) EB NS YY) 2/2
Mr. Leung Moon Lam (Chief Executive Officer) — RimMh5c 4 (7TB 44 #) 2/2
Professor Xu Yang HE k- E5d 2/2
Non-Executive Directors FBITEE
Dr. Ma Kai Cheung, s8s, 88s (Co-Chairman) SNBiEtwsnes wenes(BELE) 2/2
Mr. Sun Kai Lit Cliff, 8ss, sp B E Ewgmes A vm+ 2/2
Dr. Ma Wai Mo FEREL 2/2
Mr. Cheng Tai Po (appointed on 30 April 2010)  BF K 3k % & (R20109F 4530 H # Z (F) n/a” i# A
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIABITES
Mr. Shi Wan Peng LB EE 2/2
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew, Gas, Sas, /P REEFRE2EHESE REHES K THT 1/2
Mr. Li Wai Keung R A 2/2

All Directors are provided with agenda and relevant materials
related to the agenda in advance before the meeting. They can
access to the senior management and the company secretary of
the Company at all time and, upon reasonable request, seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the non-executive Directors (except Mr. Cheng Tai Po) and
independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three vyears
commencing from the IPO Date. Mr. Cheng Tai Po has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years commencing from 30 April 2010.
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The Company’s Articles provide rotation and re-election for all
Directors. As provided by the Articles, at each annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire
from office by rotation. The Articles also provide that any Director
appointed by the Board either to fill a casual vacancy on the
Board or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until
the next following general meeting of the Company and shall then
be eligible to offer for re-election. Accordingly, six directors,
namely, Mr. Leung Moon Lam, Mr. Sun Kai Lit Cliff, Mr. Cheng Tai
Po, Mr. Shi Wan Peng, Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew and Mr. Li
Wai Keung shall retire and stand for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM of the Company.

Board Committees

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, to handle particular responsibilities of the Board and
the Company’s affairs. All board committees of the Company are
established with defined written terms of reference. The board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at
the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is responsible for the review and supervision
of the Group’s financial reporting process, internal controls and
review of the Company’s financial statements. Their written terms
of reference are in line with the provisions under the CG Code
and the roles and the responsibilities delegated to the Audit
Committee by the Board.

The Audit Committee consists of Mr. Li Wai Keung as chairman,
Mr. Shi Wan Peng, Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew. All the Audit
Committee members are independent non-executive Directors.

As the Company was listed on 30 September 2009, there was
only one meeting of Audit Committee held on 15 December 2009
to review the 2009/2010 interim results of the Company before
submission to the Board. From 2010 onwards, the Audit
Committee will hold meeting at least twice a year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010, the Audit Committee had EXZE2CEH AEEE £20106F3A31
reviewed the internal control system, connected transactions, BHIFFEEHNAMEEHE BELS - &F
interim results and annual results of the Group, the accounting HEENREZFEEULRAEBRMAN S
principles and practices adopted by the Group. JREA BB o

The attendance of the Directors at the Audit Committee meeting BRZEQ@@HZNEETHEBRNOT:
are as follows:

Number of attendance

Directors EERSZ H R
Mr. Li Wai Keung (chairman) FRBSTE(EE) 171
Mr. Shi Wan Peng AEEE 171
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew, Gss, s8s, i REBEFL L2 LHEE HLHEE KF#HT 171
Remuneration Committee HFNEES

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making ¥ WEZEeaFnEEe i L EMETF
recommendations to the Directors’ and senior management's REHEH T HEESFTHERIEES
remuneration and other benefits. The remuneration of all Directors RS R/EIE A S W B - (R 1 0 5B
and senior management is subject to regular monitoring by the KIERBHEBLAE EHEEZEBEZEFA
Remuneration Committee so as to ensure that the level of their &E5FRIBE

remuneration and compensation are reasonable. Their written
terms of reference are in line with the provisions of the CG Code.

The Remuneration Committee comprises two independent non- ¥ MEZECedHMEBIIIERTES R — 2
executive Directors and one executive Director, including Mr. Li #{TEFHHK  BRETEBEE(EF) 2
Wai Keung as chairman, Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew and Mr. & Z 5 A4 N BB B4 4 -

Cheng Chung Hing.

The primary goal of the Group’s remuneration policy for executive AEBEMHNHITEETTNHETIEZENAE
Directors is to enable the Company to retain and motivate AARIHITEENM S EFEEHEARR
executive Directors by linking their compensation with their RAEBNPXEEMEEELERS [
individual performance as measured against the Group's corporate FRZEMHIFE N #ABRE L BB HNITE
objectives and operating results, taking into account also the = - PITESHNHFHMETETITERFEENRNE
comparable market conditions. The principal elements of the £ - &% Kk SHKBWEIEL - L EAQ T B
remuneration package of an executive Director include basic salary, RETZILREMEH - FRITES(BEE
performance and/or discretional bonus, participation in the YIFHTES)NEMIZoFEEEBS
Company's share option schemes and other benefits. Remuneration Y HEFEL2BIEHTES(BEBIIKE
of non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive #{TEH)MBENTHBBEREETE -
Directors) includes mainly the director's fee which is a matter for

the Board to decide by reference to the duties and responsibilities

of non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive

Directors) and the comparable market conditions.
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For the period from 30 September 2009 to 31 March 2010, no
Remuneration Committee meeting was convened. From 2010
onwards, the Remuneration Committee will hold meeting at least
once a year.

The emoluments of each Director for the year ended 31 March
2010 are set out in note 7 to the financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendation to the nomination of Directors with a view to
appointing suitable individuals with relevant expertise and
experience to enhance the constitution of the Board and to
contribute to the Board. In the nomination procedures, the
Nomination Committee makes reference to criteria including
reputation of candidates for integrity, accomplishment and
experience, professional and educational background.

The Nomination Committee comprises two independent non-
executive Directors and one executive Director, including Mr. Leung
Kwan Yuen Andrew as chairman, Mr. Li Wai Keung and Mr.
Cheng Chung Hing.

For the year ended 31 March 2010, no meeting was convened by
the Nomination Committee.

Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for the internal control of the Group and
for reviewing its effectiveness. Procedures have been designed for
safeguarding assets against unauthorized use or disposition, the
maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of
reliable financial information for internal use or for publications
and the compliance of applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Directors have conducted a review of the overall effectiveness
of the internal control system of the Group. An internal audit
department has been established to perform regular financial and
operational reviews and conduct audit of the Company and its
subsidiaries. The work carried out by the internal audit department
to ensure the internal controls are in place and function properly
as intended.
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For the annual review on the internal controls, the Audit
Committee considered the internal control report and was satisfied
as to effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system. There
were no matters of material concerns relating to financial,
operational or compliance controls. The Board is satisfied with the
adequacy of the system of the internal control of the Group
during the reporting year.

External Auditors’ Remuneration

The Group's external auditors is Messrs. Ernst & Young. For the
year ended 31 March 2010, the remuneration paid and payable by
the Group to the external auditors in respect of audit and non-
audit services provided by them were as follows:

RARBERNFEENMES EXELEE
ERANNEERS YEMAANKEARE

EERBAR BYEEBUE EBHX
EREEMASERINEE EFEE
MASBRERFENANTEZRTBER

ot

=' o

HNEE 1% BU AT BN £
REBRINEZBE AL KGRI EIEFT ©
B E2010F3A31HIEFE » KEE @ INE
BEMSINREIMATIREEERRIEREZ
REHM T :

HK$'000

FET

Audit and review services* B NES RS 7,330
Non-audit services JEE RS 1,088
8,418

* Including IPO reporting accountants and statutory audit and review service fee.

Communication with Shareholders

The Company believes that effective communication with
shareholders and other investment community is essential. Since
the IPO date, the executive Directors and chief financial officer of
the Company held regular briefings, attend investor forums, and
participated in roadshows with the institutional investors and
financial analysts in China, Hong Kong and overseas countries to
keep them abreast of the Company’s business and development.

The shareholders meeting provides a useful forum for the
shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The Directors and
chief financial officer of the Company will attend the shareholders’
meetings to answer the questions raised by the shareholders of
the Company. Published documents together with the latest
corporate information and news are available on the Company’s
website at www.chinasouthcity.com.

* BEERALTHEBRGNETENREERBE

Sz RAE

AR RS - R R 1%
EREBNEWEE - AERDARER
BEME RITERRAARN R

HBETHRE LRREEWRE HKEE
REESERE YRPE - FELEIH
BRETHBEIN  BERFEREARA

S EBRER

Hﬁ /;;%E/\/\%ﬁ/\m 1 Hiﬁ;ﬁi
EZgEMERRER - é%&ﬁ 7 B 1%
RERHERRAEMREARARFREIEL

MIRRT - BB B XEERRFATE R
R ¥ OB A ONYE KD A M

www.chinasouthcity.com °

EEBERERADIT 2009/10F 3 0



Corporate Governance Report
EXERE S

Directors’ Responsibility on the Consolidated EEHEEUBRRVHER
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the ZFHRHEFEEE E2010F3A831BIEFE
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March #AFBMEMNET WEERBRETHT
2010 which were prepared in accordance with statutory K@M E&EE|IFEE -

requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The reporting responsibility of the external auditors of the ZARAFINEZSEME ANEBGZAPBHRE

Company on the consolidated financial statements of the Group HYER IR BT & R FE73E74H & %8 3L 1% S Al
are set out in the independent auditors’ report on pages 73 to 74. FHENR °
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BN &% KRS

Ell ERNST & YOUNG

=2 ik

To the shareholders of
China South City Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of China South City
Holdings Limited set out on pages 75 to 180, which comprise the
consolidated and company statements of financial position as at
31 March 2010, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant
to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in
the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 141 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

BEABERBRAE
(REEZMAE A B R E])
HFRE

RZEEATEBIHRMDEBZIERE
752 180B M ZEmR WIE R ER AR B HEK -
EH B HER2010F3831BE G4 KA a8
BAORER - REIEZBAEFENGE KRR
REETAKRER HFEEREBEHENGSE
RERERARETESHTBERBEEREAM
i B BT 5 o

EFRMERRARENEE
ARAEFAREARBEAGHALET
BB BMBREEAREEAAEIIRE -
RURABALWIIREEMBRE ° b
EAOERN ENRARAGRLURAER
N7 4R 81 5 R AR B 0 ER 4 - X
W B 75 SRR T A7 R B R RE S SR AR T
HMEAEREL BRYEAEENE
B RIBIERIEH AR B A o

B EE
BHMEERRERMNEREZSFNG
BRERBR - ABERBEEFAERA KD
FIMEER HTUESBEEB RS Kt
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BY &M &S

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31
March 2010 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

18/F., Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street

Central

Hong Kong

13 July 2010

0 China South City Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2009/10
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Consolidated Income Statement

dE W a R

Year ended 31 March 2010
HZE2010F3A31BIEFE

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2010 31 March 2009
#HE20104 #H £2009%F
3A31MBILLEE 3A31BLLFE

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 F#ET FHBT
REVENUE N 5 1,570,229 224,399
Cost of sales Fi=R= N (587,522) (153,640)
Gross profit ESpAl 982,707 70,759
Other income and gains H b ug A KUz 5 150,434 19,077
Fair value gains on investment properties % & #) % A F (B U8 = 5 1,308,543 1,153,903
Selling and distribution costs HEK D HEKA (83,573) (89,531)
Administrative expenses TR X (187,696) (109,249)
Other expenses H b (25,427) (13,188)
Finance costs B E A 8 (32,982) (6,824)
Share of profits and losses of: FEAE %1% 75 B9 AR K&
&5 18
Jointly-controlled entities H [R5 HI E A8 1,287 1,120
An associate e i /NE] (302) (327)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BignFE 6 2,112,991 1,025,740
Income tax expense FT 15 5 5 &2 9 (785,345) (272,170)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REEFHE 1,327,646 753,570
Attributable to: TA &7 el
Owners of the parent IS/NCIEZ DN 1,329,593 754,048
Minority interests DB R = (1,947) (478)
1,327,646 753,570
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE BN B ASILERE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF BERBEAZEBERERN
THE PARENT (HK cents) (Bl 12
Basic BN 25.32 16.76
Diluted #E 25.10 16.76

Details of the dividends proposed for the year are disclosed in 78 & #% Ik A% S 5 15 70 B 15 3 2% BT s 114
note 11 to the financial statements. B o
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

e E2HWSE R

Year ended 31 March 2010
HZE2010F3A31HIEFE

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2010 31 March 2009
H=E20104 #H £ 20094
3A31BILEE 3A31BLFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHB T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR XEEFH 1,327,646 753,570
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hb2mEIKA
Exchange differences on translation of RMEBINEFHE K Z5
foreign operations 19,072 93,249
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME XEEE2EIAN
FOR THE YEAR 1,346,718 846,819
Attributable to: T &5 (L
Owners of the parent BRARHEA A 1,348,565 846,596
Minority interests LR RE R (1,847) 223
1,346,718 846,819
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI X

31 March 2010
20103A31H

2010 2009
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M5 F#ET FABT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME  WERFZE 13 157,684 260,302
Investment properties "EYE 14 9,077,250 6,543,757
Properties under development BERPYE 15 1,978,789 1,404,571
Prepaid land premiums AN HES 16 6,911 7,051
Goodwill kS 17 20,066 20,066
Interests in jointly-controlled entities 7 £ [F] 1258 %Il & B2 /9 # == 19 8,980 5,740
Interests in associates R R R AR = 20 (803) (1,106)
Loan receivables FE W & K 21 625 4,414
Finance lease receivables A S EWRIE 22 54,250 65,952
Deposits paid for purchase of land B E tib S [ WiES 23 — 74,663
Deferred tax assets RIERIEE E 32 75,413 12,599
Total non-current assets FERBEERE 11,379,165 8,398,009
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Properties held for finance lease FIEmEREMZE 96,116 101,743
Properties held for sale FEHE W% 677,346 481,821
Trade receivables FEWE 5 BR K 24 234,155 25,530
Prepayments, deposits and other ERRIE - e REM
receivables JE W 3 18 25 86,077 68,128
Held for trading investments at fair % @18 25 A A FE 5 BR
value through profit or loss ZHEEBEKRE 26 123,932 —
Cash and bank balances e RRITHEH 27 3,702,977 246,084
Total current assets mMEEERE 4,920,603 923,306
CURRENT LIABILITIES g JR=Ri
Bills payable JERE & 30 — 237,332
Other payables, accruals and deposits E f j& {4 ZX 38 - fE 51718
received BREWIZRS 28 824,459 777,966
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FRERITEE 29 1,558,417 470,652
Tax payable JE 7 18 470,832 79,695
Total current liabilities mBBEARE 2,853,708 1,565,645
NET CURRENT ASSETS/LIABILITIES) RENZE (BfE)FE 2,066,895 (642,339)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERTHER
LIABILITIES 13,446,060 7,755,670

EEHERAERAT 2009/10% # 6



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mEBBERRR

31 March 2010
20103 A31H

2010 2009
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
[ FHET TH& T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kREERE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings AERITEE 29 2,644,308 898,774
Interest-bearing notes STERERE 31 — 915,790
Deferred tax liabilities BELEHIEAER 32 1,775,067 1,359,348
Due to shareholders FE I SR KA 33 — 85,800
Total non-current liabilities MBI BERTE 4,419,375 3,259,712
Net assets BEFE 9,026,685 4,495,958
EQUITY B
Equity attributable to owners of NAEBANEMLER
the parent
Issued capital BETRA 34 60,000 200
Reserves & 36(a) 8,733,433 4,461,763
Proposed final dividends R R B AR S 11 119,591 —
8,913,024 4,461,963
Minority interests BT R A 113,661 33,995
Total equity e MR 9,026,685 4,495,958

CHENG CHUNG HING Zp # H
Director &=

LEUNG MOON LAM 2 i #
Director &=
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GFEER B X

Year ended 31 March 2010
HZE2010F3A31BIEFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

RAEEAERS
Statutory
surplus Share  Exchange
Issued reserve Capital option fluctuation  Retained Minority Total
capital (note i) reserve reserve reserve profits Total  interests equity
ETE
BET ABER R i3 22 s
BRA (W) BEAXREE fBfF KBEE REFE @it REREz BnLH
Notes HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
k3 TEr FTEArT FExr  TFTER TET TEL TR THT THERL
At 1 April 2008 20085 4A1H 200 27,072 182,768 57,639 484,076 2,857,025 3,608,780 33,772 3,642,552
Total comprehensive income ~ AEEE 2@
for the year /O = 590 = = 91,958 754,048 846,596 223 846,819
Equity-settled share option ~ LAREZ & E )
arrangement BREZH 35 — - — 6,587 — — 6,587 = 6,587
At 31 March 2009 2009%3A31H 200 27,662*  182,768*  64,226*  576,034* 3,611,073* 4,461,963 33,995 4,495,958
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GERBZED R

Year ended 31 March 2010
HZE2010F3A31HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

REEBEARERE
Statutory
Surplus Share  Exchange Proposed
Issued Reserve Capital Share option fluctuation  Retained final Minority
capital (note i) reserve  premium reserve reserve Profits  Dividends Total interests Total equity
AE
BET RUREE Bike EX Rk SE
RA (W) BEARE ROEE fE RBRE RENE KBRS gt RREZE BRER
Notes HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
i3 FiExT TR TR FiExT TR TR FiExT TR TR TiEx TR
At 1 April 2009 200964718 200 27,662 182,768 = 64,226 576,034 3,611,073 — 4,461,963 33,995 4,495,958
Total comprehensive income FEEHLE
for the year WA = 186 = = = 18,786 1,329,593 — 1,348,565 (1,847) 1,346,718
Capital contributions to a subsidiary  —% 2 &R KA~ %
from a minority shareholder WE AR HE = — — — — — — — — 81,513 81,513
Equity-settled share option DEREEN
arrangement BREZHE 35 - - - - 3,294 - - - 3,94 3,294
Issue of shares at a premium through & B & A ABEERK
initial public offering wERTRA 15,000 — — 3,135,000 — — — — 3,150,000 3,150,000
Issue of shares by capitalisation of ~ EBEA( KR EH
shareholders' loan BN 3 44,800 - — 41,000 - — - — 85800 85,800
Share issue expenses BipETH = = = —  (136,598) = = = —  (136,598) —  (136,59)
Proposed final 2010 dividend RER010FRAK S i — — — — — —  (119591) 119,591 - -
Transfer fromi(to) retained 8%8/(2)
profits REFE — 58421 (182,768) — - — 124347 - - -
At 31 March 2010 2010438318 60,000 86,269* —* 3,039,402* 67520*  594,820* 4,945422* 119591 8,913,024 113,661 9,026,685

Note:

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
HK$8,733,433,000 and HK$4,461,763,000 in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2010 and 2009, respectively.

In accordance with the PRC Company Law, the Group’s subsidiaries registered in
the PRC are required to appropriate 10% of the annual statutory profit after tax
(after offsetting any prior years’ losses) to the statutory surplus reserve. When
the balance of the reserve fund reaches 50% of the entity’s registered capital,
any further appropriation is optional. The statutory surplus reserve can be
utilised to offset prior years’ losses or to increase capital. However, the balance
of the statutory surplus reserve must be maintained at a minimum of 25% of
registered capital after such usages.

M 3

(i)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GEBRERER

Year ended 31 March 2010
HZE2010F3A31BIEFE

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2010 31 March 2009
#HZE20104F & 220095
3A3MBLEE 3A31B LS E
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 2 FET FH& T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING BETHHERR
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax IR 2,112,991 1,025,740
Adjustments for: FEE-
Finance costs ﬂé&ﬁ 8 32,982 6,824
Share of profits and losses of jointly- JE A H [R] #22 fi 88 %
controlled entities and an associate — R AT FE R
& 15 (985) (793)
Bank interest income RITH B YA 5 (1,049) (2,860)
Loss on disposal of items of property, LHEME  BEK
plant and equipment REHEEEBE 6 369 645
Depreciation e 6 37,294 36,919
Amortisation of prepaid land premiums  FB {4 i H 58 & # 85 6 162 262
Changes in fair value of investment BEMEANTFEES
properties 5 (1,308,543) (1,153,903)
Provision for impairment of trade & W B 5 B FOR (B
receivables B & 6 25,468 —
Written off of trade receivables as WIHEWE SRR A
uncollectible TTH&@%’\IE 6 — 4,321
(Written back)/impairment of interests RERZESIEEEAE S
in jointly-controlled entities (ﬁé@)/ﬁi@ 6 (41) 2,037
Gain on restructure and buying back EHERBRFERED
of interest-bearing notes I &= 5 (136,709) —
Gains on held for trading investments EBBEAAFENE
at fair value through profit or loss ZEEEERE WS 5 (2,630) =
Equity-settled share option expense LARE 2= A5 H &Y
AR X 6 3,294 6,587
762,603 (74,221)
Decrease in properties held for sale FrESHE W E R A 310,955 20,932
Decrease in properties held for finance — #5{E@ & 7 & 1 3 5l
lease 5,932 4,080
Decrease in loan receivables FE U B FOR 3,803 3,020
Decrease in finance lease receivables &l & 18 & e WK IE R 11,899 10,690
Increase in trade receivables FE U2 2 5 BR SR 35 AN (234,016) (18,643)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and — TEfTFKIA - & & & E M0 fE
other receivables I %8 Ve 48,531 6,141
Increase in other payables, accruals and — Efib &I X8 « fEETIEE
deposits received % E Wiz &1 31,322 127,595
Decrease in amounts due to directors FE A~ E = R IE R A — (5,926)
Cash generated from operations KEMBHRE 941,029 73,668
Overseas taxes paid BRI IE (46,839) (1,821)
Net cash inflow from operating activities &% & 8) 38 & i A F 58 894,190 71,847
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

ZFEHETR

Year ended 31 March 2010
HZE2010F3A31HIEFE

&

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2010 31 March 2009
H E20105F E Z=2009%F
3A3MBILEE 3A31ALLEE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 2 FET F#& T
Net cash inflow from operating activities %% % & 8138 & /i A JF 58 894,190 71,847
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BRETHHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, plant and BEE %% - B &E &
equipment &imIE R (8,736) (4,922)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWE  BEREZE
property, plant and equipment IH B 5 %8 1,375 3,217
Investments in an associate R —REE AR E (600) =
Purchase of held for trading investments & & i 18 18 5 LA A F(E 71|
at fair value through profit and loss RRIEEERE (101,400) —
Capital contributions to a subsidiary from —% DB R A — R B
a minority shareholder ﬁ & 81,513 —
Net advances (to)/from jointly-controlled EHER (RSB,
entities Tm 2 FOF (1,829) 3,888
Additions to properties under BRAMERE
development (2,199,354) (1,104,598)
Interest received B U F B 5,953 14,970
Net cash outflow from investing activities % & & &) 3 € 7 H /¥ 58 (2,223,078) (1,087,445)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING REFHHREFE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares BT D PT1S 3R 1E 2,995,902 —
New bank loans FERITER 3,997,175 713,259
Repayment of bank loans BEETEXK (1,167,981) (541,549)
Payment for buying back and repayment B [l & {8 i 5t 8 = & (5 3%
of interest-bearing notes (851,662) —
Interest paid B F B2 (188,984) (160,316)
Net cash inflow from financing activities g & /& B3R & K A JF 58 4,784,450 11,394
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND & RIS ZEWiEm
CASH EQUIVALENTS (B D) %8 3,455,562 (1,004,204)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FHMR & RFESEEY
of year 27 246,084 1,228,898
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, [ R & B 5/ £ 5% 58
net 1,331 21,390
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END FRHMIRERALEEY
OF YEAR 3,702,977 246,084
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND & RIRE&ZEUE
CASH EQUIVALENTS 5
Cash and bank balances R e RIRITHE R 27 3,702,977 246,084
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Statement of Financial Position

B8 RN &

31 March 2010
201053 H31H
2010 2009
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
=2 T#ET FB T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREEE
Property, plant and equipment M WERFZE 1,439 2,204
Interests in subsidiaries TN NGIEE R Ea 18 1,453,675 1,009,675
Total non-current assets IREBEERE 1,455,114 1,011,879
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other TENHIE - e R HAM
receivables JfE U FR 8 1,099 23,314
Due from subsidiaries NG E Q] 18 698,098 283,473
Cash and bank balances B e MIRTT4 6R 27 1,505,842 39,016
Total current assets mMEEERE 2,205,039 345,803
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBERE
Due to subsidiaries NG EINGIE 18 899 51,307
Other payables, accruals and H & AT RRIE - B AT
deposits received HENME KIZS 20,474 4,496
Total current liabilities mEBEERE 21,373 55,803
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 2,183,666 290,000
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEEHBERRE
LIABILITIES & 3,638,780 1,301,879
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREBER
Interest-bearing notes FSTEEE 31 — 915,790
Due to shareholders JEH I R A 33 — 85,800
Total non-current liabilities R BERTE — 1,001,590
Net assets EEFE 3,638,780 300,289
EQUITY i
Issued capital BEITIRA 34 60,000 200
Reserves it 36(b) 3,459,189 300,089
Proposed final dividends R R B AR 2 11 119,591 —
Total equity 7 AR FE 3,638,780 300,289
CHENG CHUNG HING B # LEUNG MOON LAM 2 i #k
Director &= Director & =
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRWE

31 March 2010
20103 H31H

2.1

Corporate Information

China South City Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The
registered office of the Company is located at Room 2205,
22/F, Sun Life Tower, The Gateway, 15 Canton Road,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the vyear, the Group is principally engaged in
developing and managing integrated logistic trade centers,
property development, property investment, property
management and operation of hotel.

Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for investment properties and held
for trading investments, which have been measured at fair
value. These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2010. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date that such control ceases. All income, expenses and
unrealised gains and losses resulting from intercompany
transactions and intercompany balances within the Group are
eliminated on consolidation in full.

@ China South City Holdings Limited Annual Report 2009/10
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2.1

2.2

Basis of Preparation (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

The acquisition of a subsidiary is accounted for using the
purchase method of accounting. This method involves
allocating the cost of the business combination to the fair
value of the identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. The
cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the
fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and
liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus
costs directly attributable to the acquisition.

Minority interests represent the interests of outside
shareholders not held by the Group in the results and net
assets of the Company’s subsidiaries. An acquisition of
minority interests is accounted for using the parent entity
extension method whereby the difference between the
consideration and the book value of the share of the net
assets acquired is recognised as goodwill.

Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year's financial
statements. Except for in certain cases, giving rise to new
and revised accounting policies and additional disclosures,
the adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs has had no
significant effect on these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 and HKAS Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
27 Amendments Adoption of HKFRSs and HKAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements — Cost of an Investment
in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled

Entity or Associate

HKFRS 2 Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based

Amendments Payment — Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations

HKFRS 7 Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial

Amendments Instruments: Disclosures — Improving

Disclosures about Financial

Instruments

2.1

2.2
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
REMBHR RN

31 March 2010
20103 H31H

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures
(continueq)
HKFRS 8 Operating Segments

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements

HKAS 18 Amendment to Appendix to HKAS 18
Amendment* Revenue — Determining whether an
entity is acting as a principal or as

an agent

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs

HKAS 32 and Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial
HKAS 1 Instruments.: Presentation and HKAS
Amendments 1 Presentation of Financial

Statements ~ — Puttable Financial

Instruments and Obligations Arising
on Liquidation

HK(FRIC) — Int 9  Amendments to HK(IFRIC) — Int 9
and HKAS 39 Reassessment of Embedded
Amendments Derivatives and HKAS 39 Financial

Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement — Embedded
Derivatives

HK(IFRIC) — Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

HK(IFRIC) — Int 15 Agreements for the Construction of
Real Estate
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures
(continueq)
HK(FRIC) — Int 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a

Foreign Operation

HK(IFRIC) — Int 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers

Improvements to

(adopted from 1 July 2009)

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs

HKFRSs
(October 2008)

*

Included in Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 (as issued in May 2009).

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact
of HKAS 1 (Revised), HKFRS 8 and the Improvements to
HKFRSs (October 2008), the adoption of these new and
revised HKFRSs has had no significant financial effect on
these financial statements.

(@)

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial
Statements

HKAS 1 (Revised) introduces changes in the
presentation and disclosures of financial statements.
The revised standard separates owner and non-owner
changes in equity. The statement of changes in equity
includes only details of transactions with owners, with
all non-owner changes in equity presented as a single
line. In addition, this standard introduces the statement
of comprehensive income, with all items of income
and expense recognised in profit or loss, together with
all other items of recognised income and expense
recognised directly in equity, either in one single
statement, or in two linked statements. The Group has
elected to present two statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

RERBEE RN

31 March 2010
20103 H31H

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures
(continued)

(b)

China South City Holdings Limited Annual Report 2009/10

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments

HKFRS 8, which replaces HKAS 14 Segment Reporting,
specifies how an entity should report information
about its operating segments, based on information
about the components of the entity that is available to
the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of
allocating resources to the segments and assessing
their performance. The standard also requires the
disclosure of information about the products and
services provided by the segments, the geographical
areas in which the Group operates, and revenue from
the Group’s major customers. The Group concluded
that the operating segments determined in accordance
with HKFRS 8 are the same as the business segments
previously identified under HKAS 14. These revised
disclosures, including the related revised comparative
information, are shown in note 4 to the financial
statements.

HKAS 40 /nvestment Property

HKAS 40 has been amended to include within its
scope properties under construction or development
for future use as investment properties and to require
such properties to be measured at fair value (where
the fair value is reliably measured). The directors of the
Company determined that the portion for lease of
properties under construction has not been finalised
up to the reporting date and these properties are
measured at cost less impairment as properties under
development (note 15) as at 31 March 2010.
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2.3 lIssued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 (Revised)

HKFRS 1
Amendments

HKFRS 1
Amendment

HKFRS 2
Amendments

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKFRS 9

HKAS 24 (Revised)

HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 32
Amendment

HKAS 39
Amendment

First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards’

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Additional
Exemptions for First-time Adopters?

Amendment to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — — Limited
Exemption from Comparative HKFRS
7 Disclosures for First-time Adopters*

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment ~ — Group Cash-settled
Share-based Payment Transactions?

Business Combinations’

Financial Instruments®

Related Party Disclosures®

Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements’

Amendment to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation —
Classification of Rights Issues?

Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement — Eligible Hedged Items’
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

RERBEE RN

31 March 2010
2010358318
2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong 23 EEBGERMKRERZEENE

Financial Reporting Standards (continued) WA (&

HK(IFRIC) — Int 14 Amendments to HK(IFRIC) —Int 14 & (ERN FEBEBEMERER
Amendments Prepayments of a Minimum Funding ERER BZEg) —RE

Requirements BZEE) FAR AT REE
—RE 2FKIZEFD
145
(fBETA)
HK(IFRIC) — Int 17  Distributions of Non-cash Assets to a7 (BB mEAGAREIFEL
Owners' BHmER BE
BLfEg)
— B fE
1758
HK(IFRIC) — Int 19  Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with 55 (BRE URam TAREHE
Equity Instruments* BHwER E&
BZEw)
— R
F195%

Amendments to Amendments to HKFRS 5 Non-current BEAMBHRE BAEVBHRSEDSES
HKFRS 5 included ~Assets Held for Sale and AR 55 S [ #F (E ML & FE i &)
in Improvements Discontinued Operations — Plan to (BER BEREIK
to HKFRSs issued  sell the controlling interest in a 20085F10H & —FEHER —
in October 2008 subsidiary’ BRITEE ZHELRZAED

HBHREE Baml 2B
Rl Z 2% #)
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HK Interpretation 4 Leases — Determination of the Length BERE HE—FHZEHE
(Revised in of Lease Term in respect of Hong FA5R T ERZ EET?
December 2009) Kong Land Leases? (7420094

127
AEET)
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2.3 lIssued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Apart from the above, the HKICPA has issued /mprovements
to HKFRSs 2009 and Improvements to HKFRSs 2070 which
sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs primarily with
a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording.
The amendments to HKFRS 2, HKAS 38, HK(IFRIC) — Int 9
and HK(IFRIC) — Int 16 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2009, the amendments to
HKFRS 5, HKFRS 8, HKAS 1, HKAS 7, HKAS 17, HKAS 36
and HKAS 39 are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2010 while the amendments HKFRS 7,
HKAS 1, HKAS 34 and HK(FRS) — Int 13 are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011
although there are separate transitional provisions for each
standard or interpretation.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011

o v A W oN -

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the
impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial
application. So far, the Group considers that these new and
revised HKFRSs are unlikely to have a significant impact on
the Group's results of operations and financial position.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
REMBHR RN

31 March 2010
20103 H31H

24 EXEHHRBE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity in which the Company, directly or
indirectly, controls more than half of its voting power or
issued share capital or controls the composition of its board
of directors; or over which the Company has a contractual
right to exercise a dominant influence with respect to that
entity’s financial and operating policies.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
income statement to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company’s interests in subsidiaries are stated
at cost less any impairment losses.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual
arrangement, whereby the Group and other parties
undertake an economic activity. The joint venture operates
as a separate entity in which the Group and the other
parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers stipulates
the capital contributions of the joint venture parties, the
duration of the joint venture and the basis on which the
assets are to be realised upon its dissolution. The profits and
losses from the joint venture's operations and any
distributions of surplus assets are shared by the venturers,
either in proportion to their respective capital contributions,
or in accordance with the terms of the joint venture
agreement.

A joint venture is treated as:

(@)  a subsidiary, if the Group, directly or indirectly, controls
more than half of its voting power or issued share
capital or controls the composition of its board of
directors; or over which the Company has a
contractual right to exercise a dominant influence with
respect to the joint venture’s financial and operating
policies;
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)
Joint ventures (continued)

(b) a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not have
unilateral control, but has joint control, directly or
indirectly, over the joint venture;

(0 an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral or
joint control, but holds, directly or indirectly, generally
not less than 20% of the joint venture’s registered
capital and is in a position to exercise significant
influence over the joint venture; or

(d) an equity investment accounted for in accordance with
HKAS 39, if the Group holds, directly or indirectly, less
than 20% of the joint venture's registered capital and
has neither joint control of, nor is in a position to
exercise significant influence over, the joint venture.

Jointly-controlled entities

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject to
joint control, resulting in none of the participating parties
having unilateral control over the economic activity of the
jointly-controlled entity.

The Group’s interests in jointly-controlled entities are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. The Group's share of
the post-acquisition results and reserves of jointly-controlled
entities is included in the consolidated income statement and
consolidated reserves, respectively.

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a jointly-
controlled entity, in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
REMBHR RN

31 March 2010
20103 H31H

24 EXEHABRBEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)
Associates (continued)

The Group’s interest in an associate is stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. The Group's share of the post-
acquisition results and reserves of an associate is included in
the consolidated income statement and consolidated
reserves, respectively.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary represents
the excess of the cost of the business combination over the
Group's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed as at the date of acquisition.

Gooadwill on acquisitions for which the agreement date
is on or after 1 January 2005

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position as an asset,
initially measured at cost and subsequently at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.

The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at March 31. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities
of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised
for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)
Goodwill (continued)

Gooawill on acquisitions for which the agreement date
is on or after 1 January 2005 (continued)

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of
the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal
of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance
is measured based on the relative values of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

Impairment of non-financial assets other than
goodwill

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
financial assets, investment properties and goodwill), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs to
sell, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case, the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to the income statement in the period in
which it arises.
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24 EXEHABRBEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets other than
goodwill (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
income statement in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@  the party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, the Group; (ii) has an interest in
the Group that gives it significant influence over the
Group; or (iii) has joint control over the Group;

(b)  the party is an associate;
(©  the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(d) the party is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or its parent;

(e) the party is a close member of the family of any
individual referred to in (a) or (d);

(f)  the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by or for which
significant voting power in such entity resides with,
directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (d) or
(e); or
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)
Related parties (continued)

(g) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group, or of any
entity that is a related party of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of
property, plant and equipment have been put into operation,
such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the
income statement in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciation.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 3%
4.5% to 20%
9% to 18%
9% to 18%

Hotel properties
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continueq)

An item of property, plant and equipment and any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the income statement in the year
the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease for
a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes;
or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such
properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at
the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the income statement
in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the income statement
in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at cost less
impairment losses and are not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing
costs on related borrowed funds during the period of
construction. Properties under development are transferred
to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment, investment properties or properties held for sale
or properties held for finance lease when completed and
ready for use.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)
Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the lessee are accounted for as
finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease, the sales
revenue is recognised at the fair value of the assets, or if
lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments
accruing to the Group, computed at a market rate of
interest. The cost of sales recognised at the commencement
of the lease term is the cost, or carrying amount if different,
of the leased property less the present value of the
unguaranteed residual value. The difference between the
sales revenue and the cost of sales is the selling profit,
which is recognised in accordance with the entity’s policy for
outright sales.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under
the operating leases are credited to the income statement
on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under the operating
leases are charged to the income statement on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land premiums under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms. When the lease payments
cannot be allocated reliably between the land and buildings
elements, the entire lease payments are included in the cost
of the land and buildings as a finance lease in property,
plant and equipment.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and receivables. The Group determines the classification of
its financial assets at initial recognition. When financial assets
are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus,
in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or
loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

The Group's financial assets include cash and bank balances,
trade and other receivables, loan receivables, finance lease
receivables and quoted financial instruments.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading. Financial assets are classified
as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
sale in the near term. Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial
position at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
the income statement. These net fair value changes do not
include any dividends on these financial assets, which are
recognised in accordance with the policy set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

@ China South City Holdings Limited Annual Report 2009/10

REREMMBEE
VIEZ A E 10
RIEEESERIEN  MBEE
DRREBBRARFEINEK 2T
BE BEXNMERFIE KEERE
BROAERDBEVKEEE  WKE
EEVRBERARUARFETE W&
TEBREBBERARTEINNER B
BE HOEKAERSUERFEERN
LM BEEENRR S o

MEMBEERREBONR S B#E
RAAREEAZRBERLEZRE
ENAH - -EREBEDNERREAR
EEMSENE-—EBHEANEREE
MBHEEEERS °

AEBNMBEERRERS RRITE
B EUCHE B BRK N B R UK OIR
EEER BMEHERWFEURE
HBESHITE-

iy

o
_'_

W BEEEREATY A

\|
/

nt
oy
In

fals

ZBRBULFEIKZHEE
E
BREBEREUNRATFEIEZUBEE
BRFEFEENMHEE - HWUHE
ENKRBEENAREHALE - RIS
BRARKEEE -BEBaEURTFED
RXUBEERPBMRAREZERF
B MAFEZSHNRERARE
ReBZERNFRFEZHURBERE
TXWATERIFTE B RMERNZEF
ERETNEMBS -



2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(continueq)

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (held for trading) to assess whether the intent
to sell them in the near term is still appropriate. When the
Group is unable to trade these financial assets due to
inactive markets and management’s intent to sell them in
the foreseeable future significantly changes, the Group may
elect to reclassify these financial assets in rare circumstances.
The reclassification from financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss to loans and receivables, available-for-sale
financial assets or held-to-maturity investments depends on
the nature of the assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
income in the income statement. The loss arising from
impairment is recognised in the income statement in finance
costs.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired;
o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash

flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement;
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

o and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to
the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the
asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset
or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if,
and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a
result of one or more events that has occurred after the
initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and
that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets
that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may
include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses individually whether objective evidence of
impairment exists for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If the Group determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar
credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or
continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred). The present
value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). If a
loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for
measuring any impairment loss is the current effective
interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly
or through the use of an allowance account and the amount
of the loss is recognised in the income statement. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying
amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any
associated allowance are written off when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has
been realised or has been transferred to the Group.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced
by adjusting the allowance account. If a future write-off is
later recovered, the recovery is credited to finance costs in
the income statement.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (including
interest-bearing loans and borrowings)

Financial liabilities including amount due to an associate,
other payables, bills payable, interest-bearing notes and
interest bearing bank borrowings are initially stated at fair
value less directly attributable transaction costs and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate method amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the income statement.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in other income/(other expenses) in the income
statement.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)
Properties held for sale and held for finance lease

Properties held for sale and held for finance lease are
classified as current assets and are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value on an individual property basis.
Cost includes all development expenditure, applicable
borrowing costs and other direct costs attributable to such
properties. Net realisable value is determined by reference to
the prevailing market prices, on an individual property basis.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have
a short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to
be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the income statement.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o where the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill or
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates and
interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can
be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(@  from the sale of completed properties, when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the buyer, provided that the Group
maintains neither managerial involvement to the
degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective
control over the properties sold;

(b)  rental income, on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms;

(©  finance lease income, when the significant risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of the properties have
been transferred to the lessee;

(d)  property management service and other fee income,
when the services have been rendered;

(e) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset; and

(f) revenue from hotel operation and the provision of
related services, when the services have been rendered.

@ China South City Holdings Limited Annual Report 2009/10
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)
Employee benefits
Share-based payment transactions

The Company has granted certain share options for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group's
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to
the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using an
appropriate pricing model, further details of which are given
in note 35 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the income statement for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest, except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is
conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which
are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the
market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all
other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payment transactions (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met.
In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification
that increases the total fair value of the share-based
payment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not
met. However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award
on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards
are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph. All
cancellations of equity-settled transaction awards are treated
equally.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Pension schemes and other retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and
are charged to the income statement as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

@ China South City Holdings Limited Annual Report 2009/10
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continueq)
Employee benefits (continued)
Pension schemes and other retirement benefits (continueq)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute 9% of their
respective payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the income statement as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs